The role of vitamin D in the aetiology of type 1 diabetes mellitus in the South African black population

Sureka Bhola

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine. Johannesburg, 2018

Declaration

I Sureka Bhola declare that this Dissertation is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted for the Degree of Master in Medicine at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination at any other University.

Ms Sureka Bhola

On the _____day of _____2018

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my beloved Bhagwan Baba, my late dad Mr Devcharran Bhola and my mum Mrs Indubala Bhola.

Presentations arising from this study

Poster Presentations

Bhola S, Cave E, Prigge K, Bhana S, Crowther N, and Padoa C (2017) "The FOK1 polymorphism in the vitamin D receptor gene is associated with type 1 diabetes in the black South African population" 23rd International Congress of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2017 (Durban).

Bhola S, Cave E, Prigge K, Bhana S, Crowther N, and Padoa C (2017) The FOK1 polymorphism in the vitamin D receptor gene is associated with type 1 diabetes in the black South African population. J. Endocrinol. Metab. Diab. S. Afr. Annual meeting of the Society of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa, 2017 (Johannesburg).

Msibi DT, Cave E, **Bhola S**, Prigge K, Toman M, Crowther NJ and Padoa C (2017) "The relationship between the vitamin D system and autoimmunity in African type 1 diabetic patients". 23rd International Congress of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine 2017 (Durban).

Msibi DT, Cave E, **Bhola S**, Prigge K, Toman M, Crowther NJ and Padoa C (2016) "The relationship between the vitamin D system and autoimmunity in African type 1 diabetic patients". Annual meeting of the Society of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa, 2016 (Cape Town).

Abstract

Background: Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is a condition associated with the autoimmune mediated destruction of the pancreatic β-cells. Individuals who develop T1D often express autoantibodies (AAbs) which target β -cell epitopes (such as the 65kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65), protein tyrosine phosphatase related islet antigen 2 (IA-2) and Zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8)). Recently, vitamin D₃ has been shown to play an immunomodulatory role in T1D. Vitamin D₃ is formed by two successive hydroxylation steps in the liver and kidney by the enzymes encoded by the CYP2R1 and CYP27B1 genes, respectively. Vitamin D₃ exerts its effect through the vitamin D receptor (VDR), a ligand activated transcription factor. Activation of the VDR, through binding to vitamin D₃ mediates the suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokines which inhibit proliferation of Th1 cells. Th1 cells are responsible for the death of the βcells. Four VDR single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs; Bsml [rs1544410], Fokl [rs2228570], Apal [rs7975232], Taql [rs731236]) have been shown to be associated with the development of T1D however, these findings are not consistent. In addition, polymorphisms in the CYP2R1 (rs10741657) and CYP27B1 (rs10877012) genes have been shown to be associated with susceptibility to T1D. To our knowledge there is no data looking at these associations in the black South African population. This study, therefore, aimed to determine the prevalence of polymorphisms in the CYP and VDR genes and relate the allelic frequencies to serum levels of vitamin D₃ and T1D disease status in the South African black population. In addition, we aimed to determine GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity within the black South African population.

Methods: Clinically diagnosed black T1D patients (n=186) and non-diabetic black control participants (n=153) were recruited. All participants were genotyped for the four VDR SNPs and two CYP SNPs using PCR-RFLP. Vitamin D₃ was measured by HPLC using the ClinRep High Performance Liquid Chromatography. GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs were measured by ELISA and glucose was measured on the Advia Chemistry System.

Results: In our cohort the mean age at diagnosis was 20.7 ± 8.4 years with a median duration of 7 [2; 11] years. The *VDR* and *CYP* gene SNPs were not associated with T1D in the South African black population. Similarly, low levels of vitamin D₃ were not associated with the disease. Multiple regression analysis showed that vitamin D₃

levels were 5.34 nmol/L lower in individuals carrying the Fokl CC genotype compared to individuals with CT/TT genotypes (p = 0.021). In addition, an increasing number of *VDR* risk alleles were associated with lower vitamin D₃ levels (0 risk alleles: 66.53 ± 23.00 nmol/L vs. 8 risk alleles: 47.30 ± 14.87 nmol/L; p = 0.006). In our T1D patients 55.6% were AAb positive (GAD65 = 51%, IA-2 = 12.9% and ZnT8 = 17.6%). IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity was associated with a significantly younger age at diagnosis (16.40 ± 5.53 vs. 21.62 ± 8.56 years; p < 0.001 and 17.00 ± 6.49 vs. 21.48 ± 8.50 years; p = 0.006 respectively) and shorter duration of disease (p = 0.032 and p = 0.008, respectively). GAD65 positive individuals had a 23-fold higher risk of developing T1D (p < 0.001).

Conclusion: We found no association between the *VDR* and *CYP* gene polymorphisms in the black South African population. However, we did find that the FokI CC genotype was associated with lower levels of vitamin D₃. Whilst AAbs are markers of T1D, AAb negativity is not sufficient to exclude a T1D diagnosis in our cohort. AAb positive patients were more likely to develop T1D at an earlier age than those who were AAb negative. The South African black population has an average age at diagnosis a decade later than that seen in white populations. In addition, the frequency of AAbs was lower than that observed in white populations. These findings suggest South African black T1D patients have a unique disease aetiology.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my supervisors Dr Carolyn Padoa and Dr Eleanor Cave for their unconditional, limitless support, assistance and encouragement throughout my project especially when problems arose.

A special thank you to Sister Angie Naidoo for assisting me voluntarily in recruiting participants; as well as the participants for generously agreeing to participate in the study.

I would like to thank Prof Jaya George and Prof Nigel Crowther for supporting me and having faith in me to complete this dissertation.

Many thanks to Dr Bhana and Prof Raal for allowing me to recruit patients from the Diabetic Clinics at CHBAH and CMJAH, respectively.

Thank you to Mrs Prigge for analysing my vitamin D samples on the HPLC, Dr Toman for guiding me with the ELISAs and Dr Naran for assisting with my ethics application.

Thank you to the routine laboratory staff of Chemical Pathology for having run my glucose samples.

Thank you to the Faculty Research Committee and National Health Laboratory Services Research Trust for funding my project.

Thank you to my family for the support, patience and for excusing me for the times when I was not available and to GOD for giving me the courage to continue when things did not work out.

vi

Table of Contents

Decla	aration	i
Dedic	cation	ii
Prese	entations arising from this study	iii
Abstr	ract	iv
Ackno	owledgements	vi
List o	of Figures	xi
List o	of Tables	xii
List o	of abbreviations and symbols	xiv
Chapt	oter 1	1
1	Literature Review	1
1.1	Diabetes Mellitus	1
1.2	Type 1 diabetes	2
	1.2.1 Pathogenesis of T1D	2
	1.2.2 Autoantibodies in T1D	4
	1.2.2.1 Insulin AAbs	5
	1.2.2.2 Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 AAbs	5
	1.2.2.3 Protein tyrosine phosphatase related islet antigen 2 AAbs	6
	1.2.2.4 ZnT8 AAbs	6
	1.2.3 The aetiology of T1D	6
	1.2.3.1 The genetics of T1D	6
	1.2.3.2 Environmental factors	8
	1.2.3.2.1 Viral infections	8
	1.2.3.2.2 Cow's milk	8
4.0	1.2.3.2.3 Geographical location and seasonal changes	9
1.3		9
	1.3.1 Dietary vitamin D	9
	1.3.2 Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism	10
	1.3.3 The association of vitamin D with T1D	11
	1.3.4 Vitamin D as an immune modulator	12
	1.3.5 The vitamin D receptor	14
	1.3.6 Polymorphisms in the VDR gene	15
	1.3.6.1 The Bsml polymorphism	15
	1.3.6.2 The Fokl polymorphism	15

	1.3.6.3 The Apal polymorphism	16		
	1.3.6.4 The Taql polymorphism	16		
	1.3.7 The association of <i>VDR</i> SNPs with the development of T1D			
	1.3.8 Polymorphisms in the vitamin D metabolic pathway and their as	sociation		
	with T1D			
	1.3.8.1 The CYP2R1 polymorphism	18		
	1.3.8.2 The CYP27B1 polymorphism	18		
1.4	Aim and Objectives			
Chap	oter 2			
2	Materials and Methods			
2.1	Study participants			
	2.1.1 Calculation of sample size			
	2.1.2 Sample Collection			
	2.1.3 Sample Separation			
2.2	DNA Extraction			
2.3	Detection of polymorphisms in the VDR and vitamin D metabolising	enzyme		
	genes			
	2.3.1 PCR amplification			
	2.3.2 Agarose gel electrophoresis			
	2.3.3 Restriction endonuclease digestion of PCR products			
	2.3.4 Sequencing of the PCR fragments			
2.4	Measurement of vitamin D_3 levels			
2.5	Measurement of AAbs to GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8			
	2.5.1 Measurement of GAD65 AAbs			
	2.5.2 Measurement of IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs			
2.6	Measurement of glucose concentrations			
2.7	Calculation of AAb positivity by hexiles based on duration of disease.			
Chap	oter 3	33		
3	Results			
3.1	Characteristics of the study population			
3.2	Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and control pa	rticipants		
3.3	Age at Diagnosis			

3.4	Detection of polymorphisms in the VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzyme		
	genes in all study participants		
	3.4.1 Sequencing		
	3.4.2 Genotypic and allelic frequencies of the VDR and vitamin D metabolising		
	enzyme gene polymorphisms in T1D patients and control participants		
	3.4.3 Associations of the VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene		
	polymorphisms with vitamin D_3 levels in black South African participants 40		
	3.4.4 VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genotypes and		
	clinicopathological variables in T1D patients		
3.5	Association of VDR risk alleles with vitamin D ₃ levels in the total cohort 46		
3.6	Association of Vitamin D_3 levels with increasing number of metabolising		
	enzyme gene risk alleles in the total study cohort		
3.7	Number of VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles and their		
	association with T1D patients		
3.8	Multivariable linear regression model to determine which variables contribute to		
	vitamin D_3 levels in the total cohort		
3.9	GAD65 AAb positivity is predictive of the development of T1D50		
3.10	Association of GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity with clinicopathological		
	variables in T1D patients50		
3.11	The association of duration of disease with AAb positivity		
3.12	Association of the number of AAbs with clinicopathological variables in T1D		
	patients		
3.13	Number of AAbs in individuals with a duration of disease less than one year 53		
Chap	ter 454		
4	Discussion		
4.1	Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and controls54		
4.2	Black T1D patients have an older age at diagnosis		
4.3	Allelic frequencies of VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzymes gene SNPs		
	within the Black South African population do not differ from frequencies in other		
	African populations		
4.4	VDR and vitamin D_3 metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms are not		
	associated with T1D in the South African black population56		
	4.4.1 <i>VDR</i> SNPs57		
	4.4.2 Vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene SNPs		

4.5	5 Vitamin D_3 levels are not associated with T1D in the South African Bla			
Population				
	4.5.1 Vit	amin D_3 and seasonal variation	. 60	
	4.5.2 Vit	amin D₃ and gender	. 61	
4.6	The Fok	CC genotype is associated with lower levels of vitamin D ₃	. 61	
4.7	The TaqI TT genotype association with higher levels of vitamin D ₃ 62			
4.8	Vitamin D metabolising gene polymorphisms had no effect on vitamin D $_3$ level			
			. 63	
4.9	The effe	ct of the <i>VDR</i> risk alleles on vitamin D_3 levels is additive	. 63	
4.10	Autoanti	body frequencies in black South African T1D patients	. 63	
	4.10.1	AAb positivity and age at diagnosis	. 65	
	4.10.2	AAb positivity and duration of disease	. 66	
	4.10.3	Number of autoantibodies and T1D positivity	. 66	
4.11	Limitatio	ns of the study	. 67	
Chap	ter 5		. 68	
Chap ^r 5	ter 5 Conclus	ion	. 68 . 68	
Chap i 5 6	ter 5 Conclus Referen	ion	. 68 . 68 . 69	
Chap ^a 5 6 7	ter 5 Conclus Referen Append	ion ces ices	. 68 . 68 . 69 . 80	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1	ter 5 Conclus Referen Append	tion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations	. 68 . 68 . 69 . 80 . 80	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi	tion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations x B: Questionnaire	. 68 . 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi: Appendi	ion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations x B: Questionnaire x C: Ethics certificates	. 68 . 69 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84	
Chape 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi	ion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations x B: Questionnaire x C: Ethics certificates x D: PCR gel images	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 81 . 84 . 87	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi	tion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 89	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi	ion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 89 ism	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi Appendi frequenc	tion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations x B: Questionnaire x C: Ethics certificates x D: PCR gel images x E: Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium x F: Comparison of <i>VDR</i> and metabolising enzyme gene polymorph ties between our cohort and populations from the 1000 genor	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 89 ism	
Chape 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi: Appendi: Appendi: Appendi: frequenci project	tion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 89 ism nes . 90	
Chap 5 6 7 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ter 5 Conclus Referen Appendi Appendi: Appendi: Appendi: Appendi: frequenc project Appendi:	 sion ces ices x A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations x B: Questionnaire x C: Ethics certificates x C: Ethics certificates x D: PCR gel images x E: Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium x F: Comparison of <i>VDR</i> and metabolising enzyme gene polymorph sies between our cohort and populations from the 1000 genor x G: Duration of disease hexiles for individuals screened for GAD 	. 68 . 69 . 80 . 80 . 81 . 84 . 87 . 89 ism nes . 90 965,	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: The role of the Th1 pathway in the destruction of pancreatic β -cells4
Figure 1.2: Non-HLA loci associated with an increased risk of T1D development7
Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of vitamin D metabolism
Figure 1.4: Proposed mechanism of vitamin D_3 signalling in T cells
Figure 3.1: Categorical box and whisker plot showing vitamin D_3 concentrations
(nmol/L) in our cohort according to the season of sampling
Figure 3.2: Graphical representation of the percentage of black South African T1D
patients by age at diagnosis
Figure 3.3: Restriction digestion profile of the four <i>VDR</i> polymorphisms run on a 2 %
agarose gel
Figure 3.4: Restriction digestion profile of the two metabolising enzyme gene
polymorphisms run on a 2 % agarose gel
Figure 3.5: Chromatograms obtained from the amplification of the VDR gene
containing the Apal polymorphism

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Aetiological classification of diabetes mellitus*1
Table 1.2: Association of VDR polymorphisms with T1D in different countries 17
Table 2.1: PCR reagents for the amplification of FokI, ApaI, TaqI and CYP2R1 PCR
products24
Table 2.2: PCR reagents for the amplification of BsmI and CYP27B1 PCR products
Table 2.3: Primer sequences flanking polymorphisms within the VDR and vitamin D
metabolising enzyme genes25
Table 2.4: PCR conditions for the six SNPs investigated 26
Table 2.5: Reagents used for restriction endonuclease digestion of PCR products for
the six SNPs investigated27
Table 2.6: PCR-RFLP fragment sizes and their corresponding genotypes for the six
SNPs
Table 2.7: Calculations for determining recovery rate and vitamin D concentration . 29
Table 3.1: Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and control
participants
Table 3.2: Genotypic and allelic frequencies of VDR and vitamin D metabolising
enzyme gene polymorphisms in T1D patients and controls
Table 3.3: Associations of the VDR polymorphisms with vitamin D ₃ levels in black SA
participants
Table 3.4: Associations of the metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms with vitamin
D_3 levels in black SA participants
Table 3.5: Associations of the VDR polymorphisms with clinicopathological variables
in T1D patients
Table 3.6: Associations of the metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms with
clinicopathological variables in T1D patients
Table 3.7: Associations of the VDR gene polymorphisms with clinicopathological
variables in the total cohort
Table 3.8: Association of vitamin D_3 levels and increasing number of metabolising
and the second state of the second

Table 3.9: Associations between the number of VDR gene risk alleles and T1D related
variables
Table 3.10: Associations between the number of vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene
risk alleles and T1D related variables48
Table 3.11: Multivariable linear regression model to determine effects of different 49
Table 3.12: Clinicopathological variables according to GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb
status in T1D patients
Table 3.13: The association of duration of disease with AAb positivity
Table 3.14: Association of the number of AAbs within diabetic patients with
clinicopathological variables53
Table 3.15: AAb profiles of T1D participants recruited within 12 months of diagnosis

List of abbreviations and symbols

ADA	American Diabetes Association
APC	Antigen presenting cell
AAb	Autoantibody
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bp	Base pairs
β-cell	Beta cell
B cells	B lymphocytes
BMI	Body Mass Index
Ca ²⁺	Calcium
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD4+	Cytotoxic T cells (4)
CD8+	Cytotoxic T cells (8)
СНВАН	Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital
СМЈАН	Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated-4
CYP2R1	Cytochrome P450 Family 2 subfamily R member 1
CYP24A1	Cytochrome P450 family 24 subfamily A member 1
CYP27B1	Cytochrome P450 family 27 subfamily B member 1
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DBP	Vitamin D binding protein
DNA	Deoxyribose nucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylene diaminetetra acetic acid
GAD65	65kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase
H ₂ SO ₄	Sulphuric acid
HbA1c	Glycosylated haemoglobin A 1 c
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
ICA	Islet cell cytoplasmic antibodies
IA-2	Protein tyrosine phosphatase related islet antigen 2
IAA	Insulin autoantibodies
IFNγ	Interferon gamma

lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL2RA	Interleukin-2 receptor subunit alpha
IS	Internal standard
IU	International units
М	Molar
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride
MHC	Histocompatibility complex
Min	Minutes
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NAD	Nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide
NADH	Nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide hydrogenase
NFκB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PTPN22	Protein tyrosine phosphatase non receptor type 22
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
RXR	Retinoid X receptor
SANBS	South African Blood Transfusion Services
Secs	Seconds
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
SST	Serum-separating tubes
TBE	Tris – Borate - EDTA
T cells	T lymphocytes
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
Th0	Naïve T cells
Th1	T helper 1
Th2	T helper 2
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TNFAIP3	Tumour necrosis factor-alpha-induced protein 3

UVB	Ultra violet B
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE	Vitamin D response elements
VS.	Versus
WHR	Waist to hip ratio
ZnT8	Zinc transporter 8
1,25(OH) ₂ D ₃	1,25 hydroxyvitamin D ₃
25(OH)D3	25-hydroxyvitamin D3
1,24(OH) ₂ D ₃	1,24-dihydroxyvitamin D ₃
24,25(OH)2D3	24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3
g	Relative centrifugal force
kb	Kilobases
kg/m²	Kilogram per metre squared
ml	Millilitres
mmol/L	Millimole per litre
nmol/L	Nanomoles per litre
n	Number
pmol	Picomole
rpm	Revolutions per minute

Chapter 1

1 Literature Review

1.1 Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) has been defined by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) as a "collection of metabolic diseases characterised by hyperglycaemia as a consequence of defects in insulin secretion, insulin action or both" (American Diabetes Association, 2004).

Symptoms of DM include polyuria, polydipsia, weight loss and polyphagia. Prolonged hyperglycaemia often results in micro- and macro-vascular complications, namely; nephropathy, peripheral and autonomic neuropathy, retinopathy, sexual dysfunction and cardiovascular disease (American Diabetes Association, 2013).

DM is not a single homogenous condition and is subdivided into four broad categories based on the pathogenesis of the disease namely; type 1 diabetes (T1D), type 2 diabetes (T2D), gestational diabetes and other specific types (Table 1.1).

CATEGORY	AETIOLOGICAL CLASSIFICATION		
Type 1 diabetes	Immune mediated or idiopathic β -cell destruction, usually		
	leading to absolute insulin deficiency		
Type 2 diabetes	May range from predominantly insulin resistance with relative		
	insulin deficiency to a predominantly secretory defect with		
	insulin resistance		
Other specific types	Genetic defects of β -cell function and insulin action, diseases		
	of the exocrine pancreas, endocrinopathies, chemical		
	induced, infections, uncommon forms of immune-mediated		
	diabetes and genetic syndromes		
Gestational diabetes	Diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy		

 Table 1.1: Aetiological classification of diabetes mellitus*

* Adapted from (American Diabetes Association, 2012)

1.2 Type 1 diabetes

T1D is characterised by an autoimmune response which results in the destruction of the insulin secreting β -cells of the islets of Langerhans, such that at the time of diagnosis, only approximately 20% of the functional β -cell mass remains (Foulis et al., 1986). T1D is considered to be the second most common chronic disease of childhood with a peak incidence observed in children between the ages of 10-14 years (Atkinson et al., 2014). However, it has recently been reported that the greatest increase in incidence occurs in children less than five years of age (Simmons and Michels, 2015). As of 2014 it was estimated that between 29.3 and 38.7 million individuals worldwide suffer from T1D (You and Henneberg, 2016). Globally the incidence of T1D is increasing at a rate of approximately 3% annually (I. D. F. Diabetes Atlas Group, 2015). The incidence of T1D varies widely geographically, with northern countries such as Finland and Sardinia having the highest incidence rates worldwide (42.9/100 000 inhabitants per year) (Verkauskiene et al., 2016, Atkinson et al., 2014, Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001) while China and Venezuela have the lowest incidence rates (0.1/100 000 cases per year) (Verkauskiene et al., 2016, Noble and Valdes, 2011).

The incidence of T1D also varies with ethnicity. White populations have the highest incidence of the disease, followed by Black populations. The lowest incidence has been observed in Asian populations (Raha et al., 2009).

1.2.1 Pathogenesis of T1D

The exact mechanism of β -cell death (Figure 1.1) in T1D is not fully understood. Damage to β -cells (potentially triggered by environmental factors) results in the release of β -cell specific autoantigens. The autoantigens are taken up by antigen presenting cells (APC; macrophages, dendritic cells or B cells) and presented to naïve CD4+ T-helper (Th)0 cells in the pancreatic lymph nodes (Ergun-Longmire and Maclaren, 2000). This stimulates the APCs to secrete interleukin (IL)-12 causing naïve CD4+ Th0 cells to differentiate into Th1 cells (pro-inflammatory) (Vaseghi and Jadali, 2016). T lymphocytes are a major source of cytokines and are considered to be the hormonal messenger of the immune system as they are responsible for most of the biological effects of the immune system (Harinarayan, 2014, Prietl et al., 2013).

The Th1 cells then secrete the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IFN γ and IL-2 (Ergun-Longmire and Maclaren, 2000). IFN γ stimulates resting macrophages to release toxic cytokines (IL-1 β , tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α)) and free radicals which cause β cell damage (Ergun-Longmire and Maclaren, 2000, Azar et al., 1999, Tisch and McDevitt, 1996). IL-2 stimulates the migration of CD8+ cells to the inflamed islets where they differentiate into CD8+ cytotoxic T cells upon dendritic cell presentation of autoantigens. The cytotoxic T cells then release perforin (pore-forming glycoprotein), granzymes and superoxides in combination with Fas mediated apoptosis of β -cells (Kukreja and Maclaren, 1999). The perforin polymerises and binds to the target cell's plasma membrane in the presence of Ca²⁺ ions to form pores in the β -cell. The pores allow for the passive diffusion of granzymes into the cell (Osinska et al., 2014). Granzymes are serine proteases that induce apoptosis by activating caspases 3 and 7, cleaving many substrates, including caspase-activated DNase, to execute target cell (β -cell) death (Cullen et al., 2010).

Destruction of the β -cells can be prevented by the secretion of IL-4 by natural killer cells at the beginning of Th0 differentiation. The IL-4 stimulates naïve CD4+ Th0 cells to differentiate preferentially into Th2 cells (anti-inflammatory). Th2 cells secrete IL-4 and IL-10 which prevent Th1 proliferation and IFN γ induced macrophage activation resulting in β -cell survival (Vaseghi and Jadali, 2016, Azar et al., 1999, Liblau et al., 1995).



Figure 1.1: The role of the Th1 pathway in the destruction of pancreatic β -cells

Environmental factors such as viral infections or inflammatory processes may lead to β -cell death. β -cell antigens are released by β -cells undergoing secondary necrosis, activating the APCs. Naïve CD4+ Th0 cells in the pancreatic lymph nodes differentiate into Th1 cells on presentation of the islet antigens. The Th1 cells release pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN γ and IL-2). These inflammatory cytokines activate macrophages and CD8+ cytotoxic cells to release toxic cytokines (IL-1 β and TNF α), and apoptosis inducing proteins such as Fas leading to destruction of the β -cell (Wallberg and Cooke, 2013).

1.2.2 Autoantibodies in T1D

Autoantibodies (AAbs) are generated by the body when it fails to recognise epitopes as 'self', resulting in an immune response targeted to the body (Kukreja and Maclaren, 1999, Pihoker et al., 2005). In T1D AAbs are directed to several β-cell antigens. The first AAbs identified to have an association with the development of T1D were islet cell cytoplasmic antibodies (ICA) (Bottazzo et al., 1974, MacCuish et al., 1974). Subsequently, AAbs to insulin (IAA; Palmer et al. (1983)), the 65kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65; Baekkeskov et al. (1982)), protein tyrosine phosphatase related islet antigen 2 (IA-2; Passini et al. (1995)) and more recently zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8; Wenzlau et al. (2007)) have been described.

Islet AAb development can occur years before the clinical diagnosis of T1D (Simmons and Michels, 2015, Tiberti et al., 2011). More than 90% of newly diagnosed T1D patients have one or more of these AAbs (Atkinson et al., 2014, Simmons and Michels, 2015). Individuals presenting with two or more AAbs have a 39% risk of developing diabetes within 3 years and a 69% risk within 5 years (Verge et al., 1998, Jasinski and Eisenbarth, 2005). In addition, the earlier the AAbs appear in children, the more likely and rapidly they are to progress to T1D (Jasinski and Eisenbarth, 2005). Detection of these AAbs provides a valuable marker in the prediction, diagnosis and monitoring of T1D (Tiberti et al., 2011). However, the levels of AAbs are influenced by the age of the patient, duration of disease and ethnicity (Fida et al., 2001, Wenzlau et al., 2007). In addition, AAb titres might vary depending upon which method was used for quantitation (Bingley et al., 2010, Bonifacio et al., 2010).

1.2.2.1 Insulin AAbs

IAA are generally the first AAbs to develop in children and persistently high levels lead to 100% advancement to T1D (Simmons and Michels, 2015, Atkinson et al., 2014, Nokoff and Rewers, 2013). IAA are usually associated with appearance at a young age; 35 - 60% of newly diagnosed children were IAA positive compared to only 20% of newly diagnosed adults (Sabbah et al., 2000, Winter et al., 2002). These AAbs are found to be associated with HLA DR4 and subsequent progression to multiple AAb positivity (Achenbach et al., 2004, Winter et al., 2002, Steck et al., 2011, Simmons and Michels, 2015). The measurement of insulin AAbs is of no use after initiation of insulin therapy (Fineberg et al., 2007).

1.2.2.2 Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 AAbs

GAD65 AAbs are found in greater than 70% of patients with T1D (Pihoker et al., 2005) (Baekkeskov et al., 1990). GAD65 AAbs are the most persistent of the T1D AAbs. However, some studies have shown a decline of these AAbs over time (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001, Rodacki et al., 2004). Individuals with the HLA DR3 allele have a greater chance of being GAD65 AAb positive (Stayoussef et al., 2011).

1.2.2.3 Protein tyrosine phosphatase related islet antigen 2 AAbs

IA-2 AAbs are detected in 60 – 70% of all T1D patients and in 85-90% of patients at the time of diagnosis (Raha et al., 2009). IA-2 AAbs are more prevalent in patients that develop T1D at a younger age and are associated with rapid disease progression. The frequency of these AAbs tends to decline with increasing duration of disease (Simmons and Michels, 2015). IA-2 AAb positivity is associated with the presence of the HLA-DR4 allele (Simmons and Michels, 2015, Raha et al., 2009).

1.2.2.4 ZnT8 AAbs

ZnT8 AAbs are found in 60-80% of newly diagnosed TID patients (Fakhfakh, 2011). Interestingly, ZnT8 AAb positivity has been noted in T1D patients who did not express the more common IA-2 and GAD65 AAbs (Fakhfakh, 2011). As seen with IA-2 AAbs, the frequency of ZnT8 AAbs decline following diagnosis (Wenzlau et al., 2015). ZnT8 AAbs seldom present before the age of three years (Knip and Siljander, 2008). ZnT8 AAbs decline rapidly with increasing duration of disease (Vaziri-Sani et al., 2010, Howson et al., 2012)

1.2.3 The aetiology of T1D

T1D is a multifactorial disease caused by a combination of environmental and genetic factors (Simmons and Michels, 2015, Paschou et al., 2018).

1.2.3.1 The genetics of T1D

Numerous genes have been associated with the development of T1D. The human leukocyte antigen (HLA) region confers approximately 50% of the inherited risk for the disease (Pociot and McDermott, 2002). The HLA region is a cluster of more than 200 genes found within the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on chromosome 6p21.31 and spans a region of approximately 3.5 megabases (Noble and Erlich, 2012, Raha et al., 2009). The HLA class II genes (HLA-DR and HLA-DQ) are the main determinants of T1D risk (Atkinson et al., 2014, Noble and Valdes, 2011). Studies have shown that DRB1*0301-DQA1*0501-DQB1*0201 and DRB1*0401-DQA1*0301-DQB1*0302 are the main susceptibility haplotypes in T1D (Lie et al., 1999, Pociot and McDermott, 2002). The

predominant protective HLA haplotype is DRB*1501-DQA1*0102-DQB1*0602 (Kantarova and Buc, 2007).

In addition to the HLA region, there are more than 50 non-HLA genes that significantly affect the risk for T1D (Pociot et al., 2010). The major non-HLA genes include the insulin gene, cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated-4 gene (CTLA-4), protein tyrosine phosphatase non receptor type 22 gene (PTPN22) and the interleukin 2 receptor alpha gene (IL2RA/CD25) (Raha et al., 2009, Roep et al., 2016, Atkinson, 2012, Paschou et al., 2018). These susceptibility genes play a role in immune responsiveness and/or immune regulation (Figure 1. 2) (Atkinson, 2012).





The likelihood of developing T1D in the general population is 1:300. The risk is increased to 1:7 in children who have a genetically related sibling diagnosed with T1D. The probability of children with T1D mothers acquiring diabetes is 3% and with T1D fathers the risk increases to 5% (Simmons and Michels, 2015). The identical twin of a T1D patient has a 70% risk of developing the disease. If T1D in one of the identical twins occurs before the age of five years, the risk of disease development in the second twin increases

by more than 50%. On the other hand, if the disease manifests after the age of 25, the risk to the second twin is less than 10% (Michels and Gottlieb, 2000). The studies looking at identical twins clearly illustrate that genetics is not the only factor involved in developing T1D and suggests that environmental factors also need to be studied.

1.2.3.2 Environmental factors

Several environmental factors have been shown to contribute to β -cell destruction. These factors include viral infections, toxins, vaccines, dietary intake, stress and climatic conditions (Roep et al., 2016, Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016, Raha et al., 2009, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). These elements have been thought to act as a trigger in genetically susceptible individuals initiating an autoimmune response (appearance of AAbs), insulitis and ultimately destruction of the β -cells (Raha et al., 2009, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017).

1.2.3.2.1 Viral infections

Exposure to certain infectious material and viral infections (enterovirus, rubella, mumps, rotavirus, cytomegalovirus and cocksackie virus) precipitate an autoimmune response (Eisenbarth, 1986, Raha et al., 2009). It is hypothesised that certain viruses mimic the protein sequence of GAD65 expressed in the pancreatic β -cells. This causes the immune system to erroneously destroy the β -cells (Simmons and Michels, 2015).

1.2.3.2.2 Cow's milk

The introduction of infants to cow's milk may potentially initiate T1D in genetically susceptible individuals (Raha et al., 2009). It is believed that consuming cow's milk results in higher levels of bovine insulin antibodies. Due to the similarities of bovine and human insulin, the antibodies raised to bovine insulin cross react with human insulin. Similarly, some studies have shown that the consumption of cow's milk may increase the development of anti-islet AAbs (Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016, Raha et al., 2009, Michels and Gottlieb, 2000). Interestingly, breast feeding infants has been shown to have a protective effect against the development of T1D. This protective effect is believed to be due to the presence of immunoglobulin (Ig) A, immune cells and a variety of hormones that prevent infection and perhaps autoimmunity (Egro, 2013).

1.2.3.2.3 Geographical location and seasonal changes

Epidemiological studies have shown large geographical variation in the incidence of T1D, with higher degrees of latitude (i.e. further north from the equator) correlating with a higher incidence of the disease (Mutlu et al., 2011, Mohr et al., 2008, Liu et al., 2015, Grammatiki et al., 2018). The higher incidence of T1D in the northern European populations could be related to vitamin D insufficiency (due to decreased sun exposure) (Newhook et al., 2012).

Interestingly, seasonal patterns of T1D onset have also been observed with the majority of new cases presenting in the autumn/winter months (Greer et al., 2013, Atkinson et al., 2014). Offspring born during spring tend to be at an increased risk of developing T1D potentially due to the final trimester being in the winter months and hence lower maternal vitamin D levels (Simmons and Michels, 2015). These findings, showing an inverse correlation between sun exposure and incidence of disease, point to a role for vitamin D in the pathogenesis of T1D (Liu et al., 2015).

1.3 Vitamin D

Vitamin D is a fat soluble steroid hormone and has two major forms, cholecalciferol (vitamin D_3) and ergocalciferol (vitamin D_2) (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010, Guo et al., 2006, Liu et al., 2015, Paschou et al., 2018). The main sources of vitamin D are dietary intake and synthesis within the skin (Sung et al., 2012).

1.3.1 Dietary vitamin D

Dietary vitamin D differs depending on which food source it is derived from. Vitamin D₂ originates from plants, vegetable sources, fungi, eggs, certain types of yeast and fortified foods such as orange juice, milk and cereal. Vitamin D₃ is found in foods such as fatty fish (cod, sardines and salmon) (Harinarayan, 2014, Prietl et al., 2013, Zhang and Naughton, 2010). Dietary intake accounts for a small proportion of vitamin D₃ which is absorbed by the intestines (Prietl et al., 2013, Guo et al., 2006, Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010). The main source of vitamin D₃ is understood to be exposure to sunlight and absorption through the skin (Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013, Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005, Seshadri, 2011).

1.3.2 Vitamin D synthesis and metabolism

Vitamin D in its natural form is biologically inactive and has to be metabolised to become active (Figure 1.3) (Seshadri, 2011). Upon skin exposure to ultraviolet B (UVB) light, 7-dehydrocholesterol is converted to vitamin D₃ (Rose et al., 2013). Vitamin D₃ is hydroxylated in the liver by 25-hydoxylase (encoded by the *CYP2R1* gene) forming 25-hydroxyvitamin D₃ [25(OH)D₃] which is biologically inert. The 25(OH)D₃ is further hydroxylated by the kidney 1-alpha hydroxylase (1 α -OHase; encoded by the *CYP27B1* gene) forming the biologically active 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ [1,25(OH)₂D₃] (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010, Kongsbak et al., 2013, Arnson et al., 2007). This action is regulated by calcium and hormones such as parathyroid hormone (PTH), calcitonin, growth hormone and insulin like growth factor. The production of PTH is prompted by low levels of calcium normalises, CYP27B1 activity ceases (Prietl et al., 2013, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017).



Figure 1.3: Schematic representation of vitamin D metabolism

Vitamin D is obtained from the diet, supplements and exposure to sunlight. Upon exposure to UVB, 7dehydrocholesterol is converted to the biologically active $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ via two hydroxylation steps in the liver and kidney. The main effects of $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ on the various target tissues such as intestines, bone, tumour micro environment and immune cells are highlighted above (Deeb et al., 2007). Both $25(OH)D_3$ and $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ can be further hydroxylated to their less active metabolites 1,24-dihydroxyvitamin D_3 [1,24-($OH)_2D_3$] and 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D_3 [$24,25(OH)_2D_3$] by 24-hydroxylase (encoded by the *CYP24A1* gene). These metabolites are degraded and eventually excreted in bile, thereby limiting excess concentrations of $25(OH)D_3$ and $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (Prietl et al., 2013, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017).

1.3.3 The association of vitamin D with T1D

Several studies, in different population groups, have shown a correlation between low levels of vitamin D₃ and risk of T1D (Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013, Bin-Abbas et al., 2011, de Oliveira et al., 2018). Vitamin D₃ deficiency during pregnancy is associated with infants at increased risk of developing T1D (Greer et al., 2013, Dong et al., 2013). Supplementation of infants with vitamin D significantly reduced their risk of T1D development (pooled odds ratio 0.71, 95% CI 0.60 to 0.84), and the higher the vitamin D concentration the lower their risk of developing T1D (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010, Grammatiki et al., 2018). In a cross sectional study carried out on Italian T1D children, adolescents and immigrants, an overall insufficiency of 25(OH)D₃ was seen and T1D patients with levels below 25 nmol/L needed higher doses of insulin therapy (Savastio et al., 2016). In addition, the risk of patients presenting with diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) was directly proportional to lower levels of 25(OH)D₃ (Savastio et al., 2016, Mathieu et al., 1995, Hypponen et al., 2001). A birth cohort study conducted in northern Finland found that the babies vitamin D supplementation (2000 IU/day) showed protective effects by restoring insulin secretion due to its immunomodulatory effects and thereby improving their diabetes status (Hypponen et al., 2001). Similarly, children receiving vitamin D supplementation (2000 IU/day) in the first 12 months after birth were less likely to develop TID (Seshadri, 2011). In a study by Dong and colleagues, it was established that supplementation of vitamin D during the early stages of life was linked to a reduced risk of T1D (Dong et al., 2013).

In Middle Eastern countries, such as Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, a higher incidence of vitamin D deficiency is observed despite the high temperatures and close proximity to the equator. This may be due to people staying indoors due to high temperatures, wearing of traditional clothing that leaves very little skin exposed to sunlight and social customs like young adults avoiding sunlight (Rasoul et al., 2016, Al-Daghri et al., 2014). Interestingly,

11

there is a higher prevalence of T1D in these countries thought to be due to the high levels of vitamin D deficiency (70-90%) (Al-Daghri et al., 2014, Lips, 2007).

Numerous studies have indicated that vitamin D_3 may be protective against the development of T1D; however the levels of vitamin D_3 thought to provide the protective effect have not been standardised (Altieri *et al.*, 2017, Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005). The true indicator of vitamin D_3 status is through the measurement of the active metabolite, $25(OH)D_3$, with a half-life of approximately two weeks (Hart, 2012). In general, between 400 IU/day and 2000 IU/day are recommended by the Institute of Medicine and the Endocrine Society in the USA depending on factors such as age, gender, body weight, pregnancy and levels of deficiency or insufficiency (Pludowski et al., 2018, Holick et al., 2011).

1.3.4 Vitamin D as an immune modulator

Traditionally, vitamin D has been associated with calcium and phosphate homeostasis and regulation of bone metabolism (Ogunkolade et al., 2002, Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010, Yang et al., 2013). However, vitamin D has more recently been shown to display many roles in biological processes within the target cells of the immune system (Yang et al., 2013, Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005, de Oliveira et al., 2018).

Vitamin D₃ functions predominantly through activating the vitamin D receptor (VDR). The VDR is a ligand activated transcription factor expressed in numerous cells, including T cells, B cells, APCs, immune cells and Pancreatic β -cells (Mukhtar et al., 2017, O'Neill et al., 2013) It is, thus, not surprising that activation of the VDR results in transcriptional regulation of a number of genes such as those involved in cellular proliferation and differentiation and immune response (O'Neill et al., 2013, Arnson et al., 2007, Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010).

All circulating metabolites of vitamin D_3 cross the plasma membrane bound to a carrier protein, vitamin D binding protein (DBP) (Cooke et al., 1988, Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005). DBP is a single chain serum glycoprotein synthesised and secreted by the liver. It is polymorphic, forms a complex with vitamin D_3 and delivers it to the target tissue where vitamin D exerts its effects (Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005, Sung et al., 2012). The exact mechanisms of VDR-mediated immune modulation are not fully understood. It is thought that once $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ enters the cell, it binds the VDR inducing a conformational change

(Figure 1.4) (Baeke et al., 2010, Kongsbak et al., 2013). This change allows for retinoid X receptor (RXR)-VDR heterodimerisation. The $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -RXR-VDR complex then crosses the nuclear membrane and enters the nucleus. The complex then binds to specific DNA sequence elements i.e. vitamin D response elements (VDRE) located in vitamin D responsive genes. This leads to activation or suppression of transcription depending on the type of co-regulatory factor present. Within T cells, the vitamin D signalling pathway down regulates the expression of IFN γ through direct interaction of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ -RXR-VDR complex with the VDRE in the promoter region of the *IFN\gamma* gene (Kongsbak et al., 2013).

The 1,25(OH)2D₃-RXR-VDR complex can also compete with transcription factors preventing them from binding to their promoter and initiating transcription (Kongsbak et al., 2013). Secretion of IL-2 is suppressed by this complex by antagonising the binding of nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) to the distal end of the IL-2 promoter sequence (Seshadri, 2011). Similarly, secretion of IL-12 is suppressed by the complex binding to IL-12s transcription factor, nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) (Kongsbak et al., 2013, Prietl et al., 2013).

Vitamin D₃ mediated suppression of these cytokines inhibits proliferation of the Th1 arm. Vitamin D₃ further promotes the production of anti- inflammatory Th2 cytokines (IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and TGF β) resulting in a more tolerogenic immune status (Prietl et al., 2013, Harinarayan, 2014). This results in a shift from the Th1 to the Th2 pathway (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010). Th2 supports humoral immunity by stimulating IgM, IgG1 and IgE synthesis by B lymphocytes and active eosinophils (Tisch and McDevitt, 1996, Azar et al., 1999). Vitamin D₃ ultimately reduces the number of APCs by inhibiting differentiation and maturation of dendritic cells that stimulate T cells, thus supporting T cell tolerance and the Th2 pathway (Altieri et al., 2017). Th1 cells are implicated in the development of autoimmunity suggesting a protective role for vitamin D₃ in autoimmune diseases such as T1D (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010).

VDR plays an important role in mediating the immune response, and polymorphisms in this gene have been associated with the development of T1D (Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010, Seshadri, 2011).





The vitamin D-VDR-RXR complex binds to the VDRE down regulating *IFNy*. Similarly, the complex binds NFkB preventing it from binding to the NFkB binding site in the promoter region of IL-12 thus preventing IL-12 transcription. This complex further inhibits IL-2 expression by binding to the NFAT-1 binding site. The down regulation of *IL-2*, *IL-12* and *IFNy* shifts the T helper cells from the Th1 to the Th2 arm. Image adapted from Kongsbak et al. (2013).

1.3.5 The vitamin D receptor

The VDR belongs to the steroid receptor superfamily of transcription factors (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). It is composed of three domains, an N-terminal dual zinc finger DNA-binding domain, a C-terminal ligand-binding domain and an unstructured region that links the two functional domains (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Pike and Meyer, 2010). The human *VDR* gene spans over 100 kilobases (kb) of genomic DNA and is located on chromosome 12q13.11. The *VDR* gene contains a 5' promoter region, eight protein-coding exons 2–9, six untranslated exons (1a–1f which are alternately spliced), introns and a 3' untranslated region (UTR) (Mathieu and Badenhoop, 2005, Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013, Martin et al., 2010, Pike and Meyer, 2010).

Numerous single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been identified within the *VDR* gene. Due to the role of the VDR in cytokine suppression, it is postulated that genetic variation in this gene may contribute to the development of T1D (Seshadri, 2011, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Guo et al., 2006). There are four common SNPs of the *VDR* gene that have been investigated; namely, Bsml (rs1544410), Fokl (rs2228570), Apal (rs7975232) and Taql (rs731236) (Mukhtar et al., 2017). These SNPs are commonly referred to by the name of the restriction enzymes used to genotype participants in PCR-RFLP analyses (Ginter and Simko, 2012). For the purpose of this dissertation, we will be referring to the SNPs using the enzyme names for identification.

1.3.6 Polymorphisms in the VDR gene

1.3.6.1 The Bsml polymorphism

The Bsml polymorphism is found near the 3' end of the *VDR* gene and is located in intron 8 and consists of a G to A substitution (Guo et al., 2006, Sahin et al., 2017, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). This SNP does not alter the structure, function or amount of the VDR protein produced (Raimondi et al., 2009, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). The Bsml SNP is in linkage disequilibrium with a poly(A) microsatellite repeat in the 3' untranslated region of the gene. This repeat influences VDR mRNA stability and VDR translational activity (Sahin et al., 2017, Guo et al., 2006, Uitterlinden et al., 2004b, Raimondi et al., 2009).

1.3.6.2 The Fokl polymorphism

The Fokl polymorphism in exon 2 causes a T to C substitution. Fokl is bi-allelic and is also referred to as the start codon polymorphism (Uitterlinden et al., 2004a, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). This polymorphism eliminates the first start codon (ATG), thus transcription only begins at the alternative start codon six nucleotides downstream of the original start location. This results in a VDR protein that is three amino acids shorter than the wildtype protein (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Sahin et al., 2017). The C allele, which generates the shorter variant (424 amino acids), is 1.5 to 2.5 fold more active than the longer variant (T allele; 427 amino acids) (Cooper et al., 2011, Ponsonby et al., 2008, Uitterlinden et al., 2004a). In addition to generating a more

active protein, the presence of the C allele results in an increased transcription rate of the *VDR* gene (Gross et al., 1998, Sahin et al., 2017).

1.3.6.3 The Apal polymorphism

The Apal SNP is found in intron 8, and is positioned at the 3' untranslated region of the gene. This SNP results in a C to A change and has no effect on the VDR protein structure. However, as with Bsml, the A allele is strongly linked to the presence of the poly(A) microsatellite repeat in the 3' untranslated region, thus regulating gene expression through modulation of mRNA (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Kamel et al., 2014).

1.3.6.4 The Taql polymorphism

The Taql SNP is located in exon 9 of the gene and is a T to C (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Kamel et al., 2014). This is a silent SNP as it does not alter the VDR protein structure. It is strongly linked to a poly(A) microsatellite repeat in the 3' untranslated region and like the Apal and Bsml polymorphisms, modulation of mRNA regulates gene expression (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Kamel et al., 2014, Sahin et al., 2017).

1.3.7 The association of VDR SNPs with the development of T1D

A T1D-VDR association was first made by McDermott and colleagues in 1997 (McDermott et al., 1997). Since then there have been numerous publications on the association of *VDR* SNPs and T1D including case control data sets, family studies and meta-analyses looking at different population groups (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017) (Table 1.2). However, results have been inconsistent. The Bsml A allele has been shown to be the risk allele for the development of T1D in Asian and Chilean populations while no association was observed for this SNP in European and most Middle Eastern populations (Wang et al., 2014, Garcia et al., 2007). (Wang et al., 2014, Garcia et al., 2007, Ali et al., 2018). However, a new study in Saudi Arabia found the G allele to be the risk allele (Ali et al., 2018). The Apal A allele has been shown to be the risk allele for the data sets allele has been shown to be the risk allele for the data et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2000); however, not all studies have shown this association (Kamel et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2000, Mohammadnejad et

al., 2012, Turpeinen et al., 2003). Association studies for both Fokl and Taql have shown contradictory findings with both alleles identified as risk alleles depending on the population studied (Fichna et al., 2010, Bonakdaran et al., 2012, Mohammadnejad et al., 2012, Ali et al., 2018, Mukhtar et al., 2017).

SNP	Population	Risk allele	Reference
Bsml	Finnish	No association	Turpeinen et al. (2003)
	Taiwanese	A allele	Chang et al. (2000)
	East Asian	A allele	Wang et al. (2014)
	Chilean	A allele	Garcia et al. (2007)
	Iranian	No association	Mohammadnejad et al. (2012)
	Korean	A allele	Cheon et al. (2015)
	Saudi Arabia	G allele	Ali et al. (2018)
Fokl	Finnish	No association	Turpeinen et al. (2003)
	West Asian	C allele	Wang et al. (2014)
	Dalmatian	T allele	Zemunik et al. (2005)
	Japanese	C allele	Ban et al. (2001)
	Iranian	No association	Mohammadnejad et al. (2012)
	Pakistan	C allele	Mukhtar et al. (2017)
	Saudi Arabia	C allele	Ali et al. (2018)
Apal	Egyptian	A allele	Kamel et al. (2014)
	Taiwanese	A allele	Chang et al. (2000)
	Chilean	No association	Holick (2007)
	Iranian	No association	Mohammadnejad et al. (2012)
	Finnish	No association	Turpeinen et al. (2003)
Taql	Iranian	C allele	Mohammadnejad et al. (2012)
	Iranian	No association	Bonakdaran et al. (2012)
	Egyptian	T allele	Kamel et al. (2014)
	Taiwanese	No association	Chang et al. (2000)
	Chilean	No association	Garcia et al. (2007)
	Korean	C allele	Cheon et al. (2015)

Table 1.2: Association of VDR polymorphisms with T1D in different countries

1.3.8 Polymorphisms in the vitamin D metabolic pathway and their association with T1D

Vitamin D metabolising enzymes belong to the cytochrome P450 superfamily. Cytochromes P450 are mono-oxygenases that catalyse many reactions such as metabolism and synthesis of lipids and steroids including vitamin D₃ (O'Neill et al., 2013, Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* are located on chromosomes 11p15.2 and 12q13.1-q13.3, respectively (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017). Polymorphisms in both the *CYP2R1* (rs10741657; G>A) and *CYP27B1* (rs10877012; G>T) genes have been shown to be associated with T1D susceptibility (Rose et al., 2013). For the purpose of this dissertation, polymorphisms of the metabolising enzyme genes will be referred to by the name of the gene in which they are found.

1.3.8.1 The CYP2R1 polymorphism

The *CYP2R1* gene is comprised of five exons and is approximately 15.5 kb in length (Hussein *et al.*, 2012). A change in the gene sequence (G to A substitution) of *CYP2R1* in exon 2 (at amino acid 99) leads to a loss of 25-hydoxylase activity which results in low levels 1,25(OH)₂D₃, thus increasing an individual's risk of developing T1D (Hussein et al., 2012, Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007a).

A study conducted on Egyptian children with T1D found that patients homozygous for the G allele of *CYP2R1* had a 2.6 fold increased risk of developing T1D. In addition, diabetic patients with the GG genotype had lower vitamin D levels compared to healthy children (Hussein et al., 2012). Studies on German T1D patients indicated that the G allele was associated with T1D susceptibility. In addition, patients with the GG or GA genotype had lower 25(OH)D₃ levels compared to control participants (Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007a). Cooper and colleagues confirmed that the AA genotype of the *CYP2R1* gene conferred protection to TID in a British cohort (Cooper *et al.*, 2011).

1.3.8.2 The CYP27B1 polymorphism

The *CYP27B1* gene contains nine exons and eight introns and is over 4.8 kb in length. The rs10877012 polymorphism is found in the promoter region of *CYP27B1* (-1260 G>T) (Penna-Martinez and Badenhoop, 2017, Lopez et al., 2004, Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007b). The presence of the *CYP27B1* G allele leads to a decrease in the amount of active 1α -hydroxylase resulting in decreased conversion of 25(OH)D to $1,25(OH)_2D_3$. Lower levels of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ are believed to increase the risk of T1D development (Moran-Auth et al., 2013).

In a study conducted on Egyptian children with T1D, it was found that patients homozygous for the G allele of *CYP27B1* had a 3.7 fold increased risk of developing T1D (Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007b, Hussein et al., 2012). In a German study, T1D patients with the GG genotype had lower vitamin D₃ levels and showed decreased mRNA expression of the *CYP27B1* gene compared to healthy controls (Ramos-Lopez *et al.*, 2007b). Similarly, British individuals carrying the G allele of the *CYP27B1* polymorphism had an increased risk of developing T1D (Bailey et al., 2007). However, in a Polish study no significant differences were found in *CYP27B1* allelic or genotypic frequencies between T1D patients and healthy controls (Fichna et al., 2010).

Despite numerous studies investigating the effect of vitamin D₃ concentrations, and *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms on T1D, there is no data in the black South African type 1 diabetic population. We therefore aimed to determine the role that vitamin D plays in the aetiology of T1D in black South African individuals.

1.4 Aim and Objectives

The main aim of this study was to determine whether polymorphisms in the genes regulating vitamin D function and metabolism play a role in the aetiology of T1D in the black South African population. Therefore, the specific objectives of the study were:

- To measure and compare serum vitamin D₃ concentrations in T1D patients (cases) and non-diabetic participants (controls)
- To screen participants for four polymorphisms in the VDR gene (Bsml [rs1544410], Fokl [rs2228570], Apal [rs7975232], Taql [rs731236] and compare allelic and genotypic frequencies between cases and controls and relate these to serum vitamin D₃ levels
- To determine the prevalence of polymorphisms in the vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes (*CYP2R1* [rs10741657] and *CYP27B1* [rs10877012]) and compare allelic and genotypic frequencies between cases and controls and relate these to serum vitamin D₃ levels
To determine GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity in cases and controls, compare AAb positivity across the genotypes of all polymorphisms studied and relate to serum vitamin D₃ levels

Chapter 2

2 Materials and Methods

The stock solutions and dilution preparations for all reagents used within this study can be found in Appendix A.

2.1 Study participants

Clinically diagnosed South African black T1D patients (cases; n=186) were recruited from diabetic clinics at Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital (CHBAH) and Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH). Non-diabetic black individuals (controls; n=156) were recruited from the South African Blood Transfusion Services (SANBS) blood drives or from students and staff located at Wits Medical School and CMJAH. Control participants were included in the study if they had normal blood glucose levels (random glucose measurement \leq 11.1mmol/L) and no family history of T1D, or any other autoimmune condition. Patients with clinical evidence of chronic pancreatitis, pregnancy related diabetes, T2D or those taking vitamin D supplements were excluded from the study.

To control for seasonal variation in vitamin D₃ levels, blood sampling of patients and controls were matched as closely as possible (i.e. recruited during the same seasonal time interval). Informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to enrolment into the study. Participants completed a questionnaire (Appendix B), anthropometric measurements were taken and the amount of sun exposure recorded.

The study protocol was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (M180334 and M150885) and by the SANBS Research Ethics Committee (clearance certificate number 2014/19). All ethics certificates can be found in Appendix C.

2.1.1 Calculation of sample size

The N number used in this study was calculated based on the ability to determine differences in allele frequencies between cases and controls for the polymorphisms with

the highest (62% for the A allele; rs7975232) and lowest (24% for the A allele; rs1544410) recorded disease-associated allele frequencies in African populations (Genomes Project et al., 2015). Thus, with an N of 150 participants in each group we will be able to detect an 11% difference in the A allele for rs7975232 between cases and controls and a 10% difference in the A allele for rs1544410 at p < 0.05.

2.1.2 Sample Collection

Blood samples (1 x 5 ml EDTA and 1 x SST serum tube (Becton Dickinson, New Jersey, USA)) were collected from all participants in the study. An additional Sodium Fluoride tube (Becton Dickinson, New Jersey, USA) was collected from control participants for glucose measurement to confirm normoglycaemia.

2.1.3 Sample Separation

Blood samples were spun down in the AllegraTM X 22R centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, California, USA) at 770 x *g* for 10 minutes to separate into the desired fractions. The top serum layer was removed from the SST tubes and aliquoted into 1.5 ml centrifuge tubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Similarly, the buffy coat was collected from EDTA tubes and aliquoted into 1.5 ml centrifuge tubes. All samples were stored in a Forma 900 Series freezer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at -80°C until required.

2.2 DNA Extraction

Stored samples were removed from the -80°C freezer and allowed to thaw at room temperature. DNA was extracted from 200 µl buffy coats using the Invisorb Spin Blood Mini DNA Extraction Kit (Stratatec Biomedical AG, Birkenfield, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All centrifugation steps were carried out using the Mikro 200 Hettich microcentrifuge (Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany).

Briefly, 200 μ l of buffy coat was added to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube followed by 200 μ l of lysis buffer. The tube was vortexed for 15 seconds and thereafter 20 μ l of proteinase K added. Samples were vortexed and placed in a heating block for 10 minutes at 56°C. The tubes were removed from the heating block and 400 μ l of binding buffer was added and the tube left to stand for one minute. The entire sample was then loaded onto the

spin filter. Tubes were centrifuged for two minutes at 11 000 x g. Collection tubes were discarded and the spin filters placed in a new receiver tube. Wash buffer 1 (500 μ l) was added to each spin filter, centrifuged for one minute at 11 000 x g, and the receiver tube discarded. The spin filter was placed into a new receiver tube and 800 μ l of wash buffer 2 added. Tubes were centrifuged for one minute at 11 000 x g and the flow-through discarded. Tubes were centrifuged for an additional four minutes at 11 000 x g to remove any excess ethanol. The spin filter was placed in a new collection tube and 150 μ l elution buffer added. After a one minute incubation period at room temperature, the tubes were centrifuged for one minute at 11 000 x g. The DNA concentration was determined spectrophotometrically on the NanoDrop ND-1000 (NanoDrop Technologies, Delaware, USA). Samples were stored at -80°C until required.

2.3 Detection of polymorphisms in the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes

All study participants were genotyped for four SNPs (Bsml, Fokl, Apal and Taql) in the *VDR* gene and an additional two SNPs in the *CYP27B1* and *CYP2R1* genes. The genotypes of the above-mentioned SNPs were determined by PCR based restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP). The literature refers to the *VDR* alleles based on the restriction enzyme site present e.g. The presence of the rs1544410 polymorphism is detected by restriction digest with Bsml and the alleles are therefore referred to as B (uncut) or b (cut). B corresponds to the A allele and b with the G allele. Similarly, rs2228570 (Fokl) alleles are referred to as F (C allele) and f (T allele); rs7975232 (Apal) alleles are referred to as A (A allele) and 'a' (C allele) and for rs731236 (Taql) alleles are referred to as T (T allele) and t (C allele) (Lombard et al., 2006). Bsml b, Fokl f, Apal 'a' and Taql T allele are found on the coding strand.

2.3.1 PCR amplification

PCR is the enzymatic amplification of a DNA fragment of interest using primers, deoxyribose nucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), Taq polymerase and buffer. It involves an initial denaturation step followed by three steps i.e. denaturation, annealing and elongation which are repeated for 30 cycles. To ensure that all amplicons have fully extended, a final elongation step is incorporated. Within the PCR reaction, the polymerase buffer creates the optimal conditions in which the polymerase can function.

Forward and reverse primers bind to complimentary regions of the DNA sequence at specific positions to ensure amplification of the region of interest. dNTPs are the building blocks of DNA. Magnesium chloride (MgCl₂), present in the buffer, acts as a cofactor for the Taq polymerase (Roux, 2009). Taq polymerase functions to add nucleotides to a DNA template producing a double stranded PCR product. The DNA of interest serves as the template for the subsequent amplification reaction.

All PCR reactions were carried out in a final volume of 15 μ l. A homemade master mix was used for all SNPs (Table 2.1) with the exception of Bsml and *CYP27B1* which were amplified using 2x Master Mix (New England Biolabs Inc., Massachusetts, USA) (Table 2.2). The primer sequences and resultant PCR product sizes are listed in Table 2.3.

Table 2.1: PCR	reagents	for the	amplification	of Fokl,	Apal,	Taql a	and C	CYP2R1	PCR
products									

Reagent	Volume (1x)
10x buffer (JMR Holdings, London, United Kingdom)	1.5 µl
dNTPs (8mM; Bioline, London, United Kingdom)	0.8 µl
MgCl ₂ (25mM; Fermentas, Massachusetts, USA)	0.5 µl
Forward primer (10 pmol) (Inqaba Biotech, Pretoria, South Africa)	0.5 µl
Reverse primer (10 pmol) (Inqaba Biotech, Pretoria, South Africa)	0.5 µl
Supertherm Gold Taq polymerase (5U/µI) (JMR Holdings, London, United Kingdom)	0.15 µl
Distilled water	variable
DNA (approximately 40ng)	variable

Reagent	Volume (1x)
2x MM NEB master mix (New England Biolabs Inc., Massachusetts, USA)	7.5 µl
Forward primer (10 pmol) (Inqaba Biotech, Pretoria, South Africa)	0.5 µl
Reverse primer (10 pmol) (Inqaba Biotech, Pretoria, South Africa)	0.5 µl
Distilled water	variable
DNA (approximately 40ng)	variable

Table 2.3: Primer sequences flanking polymorphisms within the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes

Gene	SNP	Primer Sequence	Amplicon
			length
VDR#	G>A	5'-CAACCAAGACTACAAGTACCGCGTCAGTGA-3'	822hn
	Bsml	5'-AACCAGCGGGAAGAGGTCAAGGG-3'	02200
VDR#	T>C	5'-AGCTGGCCCTGGCACTGACTCTTGCTCT-3'	272hn
	Fokl	5'-ATGGAAACACCTTGCTTCTTCTCCCTC-3'	2730p
VDR#	C>A	5'-CAGAGCATGGACAGGGAGCAAG-3'	745hn
	Apal	5'-GCAACTCCTCATGGCTGAGGTCTCA-3'	7450p
VDR#	T>C	5'-CAGAGCATGGACAGGGAGCAAG-3'	745bp
	Taql	5'-GCAACTCCTCATGGCTGAGGTCTCA-3'	74500
CYP2R1 ^{\$}	G>A	5'-GGGAAGAGCAATGACATGGA-3	207hn
		5'-GCCCTGGAAGACTCATTTTG-3'	20700
CYP27B1%	G>T	5'-GTGTTCCCTAAGTGTTGTCTC-3'	187hn
		5'-GCTGACTCGGTCTCCTCTG-3'	10704

bp = base pairs; [#] Primer sequences for the *VDR* SNPs were obtained from (EI-Beshbishy et al., 2015, Mukhtar et al., 2017, Mohammadnejad et al., 2012); ^{\$} Primer sequences for the *CYP2R1* SNP were obtained from (Hussein et al., 2012); [%] Primer sequences for the *CYP27B1* SNP were designed using Primer 3 software (Untergasser et al., 2012).

Approximately 40 ng of DNA was added to each reaction. A non-template control was included in each run to ensure no contamination occurred. PCR reactions were carried out in a C1000 or T1000 Thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA). The optimal annealing temperature for each SNP was determined by gradient PCR where a single sample was run at different annealing temperatures until a single, specific band of the correct size could be identified. All samples were amplified using the optimised conditions outlined in Table 2.4.

Step	Temperature	Duration	SNP
Initial denaturation	94°C	11 min	All
Amplification]- × 1
-Denaturation	94°C	30 sec	All
-Annealing	59°C 60°C 61°C	30 sec 30 sec 30 sec	CYP27B1 Bsml, Fokl Apal, Taql, CYP2R1 × 30
-Extension	68ºC 72ºC	30 sec 30 sec	Bsml, CYP27B1 Fokl, Apal, Taql, CYP2R1
Final extension	68ºC 72ºC	5 min 5 min	Bsml, CYP27B1 Fokl, Apal, Taql, CYP2R1

Table 2.4: PCR conditions for the six SNPs investigated

*min= minute; sec = second

2.3.2 Agarose gel electrophoresis

To confirm successful amplification of the gene of interest, a 3 µl aliquot of each PCR product was mixed with 1 µl of loading buffer. Samples were run on a 1% agarose gel containing 1x Gel red (Biotium, California, USA) for visualisation of DNA under UV light. A DNA HyperLadder[™] 100 (Bioline Reagents, London, UK) was included to verify the size of the PCR amplicon. The gel was run at 100V for 30 minutes and then visualised under UV light using the ChemiDoc MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA).

2.3.3 Restriction endonuclease digestion of PCR products

PCR products (7 μ I) were subjected to restriction endonuclease digestion to determine which allele/s were present in each participant. The digestion reaction was set up in a final volume of 20 μ I according to Table 2.5.

Table 2.5: Reagents used for restriction endonuclease digestion of PCR products for the six SNPs investigated

SNP	Restriction	Restriction	CutSmart	Incubation
	enzyme* (final	enzyme	Buffer (10x)	temperature
	concentration)	volume		(°C)
Bsml	Bsml (10U)	1 µl	2 µl	37
Fokl	Fokl (5U)	1 µl	2 µl	37
Apal	Apal (10U)	1 µl	2 µl	37
Taql	Taql (10U)	1 µl	2 µl	65
CYP2R1	MnII (5U)	0.5 µl	2 µl	37
CYP27B1	Tfil (10U)	0.5 µl	2 µl	37

* New England Biolabs Inc., Massachusetts, USA

Digestion reactions were incubated for two hours in a C1000/T100 thermal cycler. The fragments were resolved on a 2% agarose gel (run for one hour at 100V) and visualised on the ChemiDoc MP Imaging System. The resulting fragments were sized against a DNA HyperLadder[™] 100 ladder and each individual scored for the presence or absence of the restriction enzyme cut site. The genotypes and their corresponding fragment sizes are listed in Table 2.6.

SNP	Fragment size (bp)	Genotype
Bsml	651 and 171	GG
	822, 651 and 171	GA
	822	AA
Fokl	206 and 67	TT
	273, 206 and 67	TC
	273	CC
Apal	528 and 217	CC
	745, 528 and 217	CA
	745	AA
Taql	494 and 251	TT
	494, 293, 251 and 201	TC
	293, 251 and 201	CC

Table 2.6: PCR-RFLP fragment sizes and their corresponding genotypes for the six SNPs

Table 2.6: PCR-RFLP fragment sizes and their corresponding genotypes for the six SNPs

 continued

SNP	Fragment size (bp)	Genotype
CYP2R1	150,108 and 29	GG
	258, 150, 108 and 29	GA
	258 and 29	AA
CYP27B1	138 and 49	GG
	187, 138 and 49	GT
	187	TT

2.3.4 Sequencing of the PCR fragments

PCR products representing each genotype (determined through PCR-RFLP), for each SNP investigated, were sent for sequencing to Inqaba Biotech Southern Africa. The sequencing was performed to confirm that the correct region was amplified and the accuracy of the RFLP assay. Sequences were analysed using Sequencher software, version 4.7.

2.4 Measurement of vitamin D₃ levels

Vitamin D₃ levels were measured using the ClinRep High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) complete kit 25-OH-Vitamin D₂/D₃ (RECIPE, Munich, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Vitamin D₃ levels were assessed by measuring $25(OH)D_3$ and $25(OH)D_2$ as these analytes have a slower rate of clearance from the circulation than $1,25(OH)_2D_3$.

Samples were extracted using a liquid-liquid extraction before being run on the instrument. Samples (200 μ l of standards, controls or plasma (test sample)) were added to 250 μ l of precipitation Reagent P. Ice cold Internal Standard (IS) (250 μ l) was added to the mixture and vortexed for 30 seconds followed by centrifugation for five minutes at 10 000 x *g* (Mikro 200 Hettich microcentrifuge; Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany). The supernatant (upper phase) was removed and sent to the routine laboratory for analysis on the Shimadzu Nextera Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC) instrument (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto Prefecture, Japan). Extracted samples were injected into an isocratic flow of mobile phase (RECIPE, Munich, Germany) and separation of

 $25(OH)D_3$, internal standard and $25(OH)D_2$ took place on a reverse phase column with UV detection at a wavelength of 264 nm.

Vitamin D₃ was quantitated by the Lab Solutions software (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto Prefecture, Japan) using peak height of the sample and comparing the response to that obtained on a standard curve. The IS is similar to the analyte in terms of behaviour during sample preparation and chromatography. Any losses during the sample preparation could therefore be determined by calculating the IS recovery (Table 2.7). Extrapolation to 100% recovery allowed the concentration of vitamin D₃ in the sample to be calculated. Results were rejected and the samples were rerun if the IS recovery was < 75% or > 125% of that of the highest standard.

Table 2.7: Calculations for determining recovery rate and vitamin D concentration

	Equation
Recovery rate	Area IS (sample)/Area IS (calibrator)
Vitamin D ₃	Area (sample) x Concentration (calibrator)/Area (calibrator) x
concentration	recovery rate

Vitamin D₃ status was based on the Chemical Pathology diagnostic laboratories reference levels for the test used (part of External Quality Assessment Scheme) i.e.

Levels > 72.5 nmol/L = sufficient

Levels between 52.5 - 72.5 nmol/L = insufficient

Levels < 50.0 nmol/L = deficient

2.5 Measurement of AAbs to GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8

GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb titres were measured by ELISA using KRONUS antibody kits (KRONUS Inc., Idaho, USA) and the plates read on the SYNERGY HT Micro plate reader (BIOTEK, Vermont, USA). The principle of the assay depends on the ability of the AAb to act divalently and form a bridge between the antigen (GAD65, IA-2 or ZnT8) coated on the ELISA plate wells and liquid phase biotin labelled GAD65, IA-2 or ZnT8. The AAbbiotin bound complex is then quantitated by the addition of streptavidin peroxidase and a colourogenic substrate (TMB). The reaction is stopped with the addition of sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄) and the absorbance read at 450nm. The absorbance of each well is directly proportional to the amount of antibody present.

2.5.1 Measurement of GAD65 AAbs

Serum samples and the ELISA kit components were equilibrated to room temperature $(20 - 24^{\circ}C)$ before starting the assay. All samples were set up in duplicate. Samples (25 µl; standards, controls, serum) were pipetted into the 96-well plate coated with the GAD65 antigen. The plate was covered and incubated at room temperature on the Thermostar orbital microplate plate shaker incubator (Labtek, Germany, UK) at 500 rpm for an hour. Samples were aspirated out of each well and the plate washed three times with 200 µl wash buffer using the ELx50 Plate washer (BIOTEK, Vermont, USA). Excess liquid was removed following the last wash by tapping the inverted plate on absorbent paper towel.

Reconstituted GAD65-biotin (100 µl) was pipetted into each well using a stepper pipette so that the antibodies could react divalently and form a bridge between the GAD65 coated on the ELISA plate and the liquid phase GAD-biotin. The plate was covered and incubated at 500 rpm for an hour. The washing procedure was repeated followed by the addition of 100 µl of reconstituted Streptavidin-peroxidase (SA-POD) into each well. The plate was incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature and the washing procedure repeated. This was followed by the addition of 100 µl peroxidase substrate (TMB) into each well. The plate was subsequently incubated in the dark for 20 minutes without shaking. The TMB enhances the reaction and quantifies the amount of antibody present with the development of a blue colour. The variation of the blue colour in every well is directly proportional to the amount of antibody present. The reaction was stopped with 100 µl stop solution (0.5M H₂SO₄) for accurate results and the plate shaken for approximately five seconds to ensure proper mixing. This caused the blue colour to turn yellow. The plate was placed on the SYNERGY HT Micro plate reader and the absorbance read at 450 nm within five minutes. The concentration of AAbs was determined based on the standard curve generated.

2.5.2 Measurement of IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs

The methods used for the detection of both IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs were identical, with the exception of the capture antibodies which were specific to IA-2 and ZnT8, respectively.

Serum samples were removed from the Forma 900 Series -80 °C freezer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) and allowed to reach room temperature before starting

the assay. Samples were mixed by gentle inversion. Samples (50 μ l; standards, controls and serum) were pipetted, in duplicate, into wells on the plate. Reaction enhancer (25 μ l) was then added to each well, and the plate covered and samples mixed briefly. The plate was incubated overnight for 16 – 20 hours at 2 – 8°C.

Following the overnight incubation, all contents were aspirated from the wells and the wells washed three times with 200 µl wash buffer using the ELx50 Plate washer. Excess liquid was removed after the last wash by tapping the inverted plate on absorbent material. Reconstituted IA-2/ZnT8 biotin (100 µl) was added to each well and the plate incubated at 500 rpm for one hour on an ELISA plate shaker. Following incubation, the plate was washed as described above. 100 µl of a 1:20 dilution of the SA-POD reagent was pipetted into each well and incubated in the dark for 20 minutes at room temperature. A blue colour developed during this stage. Stop solution (0.5M H₂SO₄) was then added to each well and the plate shaken for approximately five seconds to ensure even mixing and to stop the reaction so that accurate results could be obtained. This caused the blue colour to turn yellow. The plate was then placed on the SYNERGY HT Micro plate reader (BIOTEK, Vermont, USA) and the absorbance read at 450 nm within five minutes. A calibration curve was plotted with the absorbance at 450 nm and the concentration of IA-2/ZnT8 AAbs determined.

2.6 Measurement of glucose concentrations

Glucose concentrations were measured on the Advia Chemistry System (Siemens Health Care Diagnostics Inc., New York, USA) in the National Health Laboratory Services (NHLS) Chemical Pathology Diagnostic Laboratory at the CMJAH. Sodium fluoride tubes (Becton Dickinson, New Jersey, USA) were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 770 x g (Beckman Coulter, California, USA) and the plasma sent to the routine laboratory for analysis.

The Hexokinase_3 method was used for the measurement of glucose concentrations. This is an enzymatic method using hexokinase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase enzymes. The ADVIA Chemistry Glucose Hexokinase_3 method is a two component reaction. Sample was added to Reagent 1, which contained the buffer, adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide (NAD). Absorbance readings of the sample in Reagent 1 were taken and used to correct for interfering

substances in the sample. Reagent 2 was added, which initiated the reaction. Glucose was phosphorylated by ATP in the presence of hexokinase. The glucose-6-phosphate that formed was oxidised in the presence of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase causing the reduction of NAD to nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide hydrogenase (NADH). The absorbance of NADH was measured as an endpoint reaction at 340/410 nm. The difference between the absorbance in Reagent 1 and Reagent 2 is proportional to the glucose concentration.

2.7 Calculation of AAb positivity by hexiles based on duration of disease

T1D patients were divided into six groups (hexiles) based on disease duration (Appendix G).

Chapter 3

3 Results

This study aimed to explore whether vitamin D_3 levels and/or polymorphisms in genes involved in vitamin D_3 metabolism (*CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1*) and the receptor responsible for downstream signalling events (VDR) are associated with the development of T1D in the South African black population.

3.1 Characteristics of the study population

A total of 338 black South African participants were recruited for the study consisting of 182 T1D patients and 156 controls. However, three control participants were excluded from the study due to a high random fasting glucose level (\geq 11.1 mmol/L) suggesting that these participants were undiagnosed diabetics (American Diabetes Association, 2012). Thus, the final number of control participants was 153.

Participants recruited for the study ranged in age from 10 to 56 years with a median age of 27 [22; 35] years. There was an equal distribution of males and females in the study cohort (49.3% males, p = 0.817). Vitamin D₃ concentrations ranged from 21.31 to 159.61 nmol/L. Only 26.4% of participants had sufficient levels (> 72.5 nmol/L) of vitamin D₃, 38.1% had insufficient levels (52.5 - 72.5 nmol/L) and 35.4% of the cohort had deficient levels (< 52.5 nmol/L) of vitamin D₃.

Participants recruited during winter months had significantly lower vitamin D_3 levels when compared to participants recruited throughout the remainder of the year (p < 0.001); Figure 3.1). Vitamin D_3 deficiency varied according to season of sampling with 61.3% of those sampled in winter being deficient compared to 41.1% of those sampled in spring, 28.8% of those sampled in autumn and 25.5% in the summer.



Figure 3.1: Categorical box and whisker plot showing vitamin D₃ concentrations (nmol/L) in our cohort according to the season of sampling

3.2 Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and control participants

The clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and control participants are summarised in Table 3.1. Patients and controls were matched for age (p = 0.487). Within our cohort there were significantly more males in the T1D population compared to the control group (p = 0.040). Glucose levels were significantly higher in the patient group than the control group (p < 0.001). The majority of patients (85%) showed poor glycaemic control within the three months prior to sampling. Poor glycaemic control was defined as an HbA1c > 7 % (Webb et al., 2015). T1D patients had a significantly lower BMI (p < 0.001) and higher WHR than control participants (p < 0.001). No significant differences in serum vitamin D₃ levels were observed between patients and controls (p = 0.110). A significantly greater percentage of patients were GAD65 and ZnT8 AAb positive compared to control participants (p < 0.001 and p = 0.016, respectively). No significant differences in T1D patients (p < 0.001 and p = 0.016, respectively).

was 20.7 \pm 8.4 years and the median duration of the disease at time of sampling was 7 [2; 11] years. Only 12.2 % of patients were recruited within a year of T1D diagnosis.

Variables	T1D patients	Controls	p value	
	n = 182	n = 153		
Age (years)	27 [22; 35]	26 [22; 35]	0.487	
Age at diagnosis (years)	20.7 ± 8.4	-	-	
Duration of disease (years)	7 [2; 11]	-	-	
Gender (% male)	54.4	43.1	0.040*	
Glucose (mmol/L)	9.2 [5.7; 13.2]	5.6 [4.7; 7.6]	<0.001*	
^a HbA1c (%)	10.6 ± 3.4	-	-	
BMI (ka/m²)	23.7	26.5	<0 001*	
	[21.1; 28.0]	[23.4; 32.5]	\0.001	
WHR	0.82 ± 0.08	0.78 ± 0.08	<0.001*	
Vitamin D₃ (nmol/L)	62.7 ± 20.7	59.4 ± 17.0	0.110	
GAD65 AAb positivity (%)	51.0	4.3	<0.001*	
IA-2 AAb positivity (%)	12.9	6.8	0.103	
ZnT8 AAb positivity (%)	17.6	4.0	0.016*	

Table 3.1: Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and control participants

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean \pm standard deviation for non-skewed data, a HbA1c = glycated haemoglobin, WHR = waist hip ratio, * indicates significant values p<0.05

3.3 Age at Diagnosis

The age at diagnosis of disease within our cohort ranged from 0 to > 39 years with the majority (42.8 %) of individuals being diagnosed between the ages of 15 and 24 years (Figure 3.2). Only 24.4 % of patients were diagnosed before 15 years of age.



Age at diagnosis (years)

Figure 3.2: Graphical representation of the percentage of black South African T1D patients by age at diagnosis

3.4 Detection of polymorphisms in the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes in all study participants

The genotypes for the six SNPs investigated (Bsml, Fokl, Apal, Taql, *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1*) were determined by PCR–RFLP. The restriction fragment patterns obtained following restriction enzyme digestion with Bsml, Fokl, Apal, Taql, MnII (*CYP2R1*) and Tfil (*CYP27B1*) are illustrated in Figure 3.3 and 3.4, respectively. Gel images for the PCR products obtained for the six SNPs studied can be seen in Appendix D.



Figure 3.3: Restriction digestion profile of the four VDR polymorphisms run on a 2 %

agarose gel.

(A) Bsml digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1, 4 - 7): homozygous GG genotype - fragments of 651 and 171 bp; Lane (2, 8): heterozygous GA genotype - fragments of 822, 651 and 171 bp; Lane 3: homozygous AA genotype - fragment of 822 bp.

(B) Fokl digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder. Lane (4, 7): homozygous TT genotype - fragments of 206 and 67 bp; Lane (1, 2, 5): CC homozygous Fokl genotype – fragments of 273 bp; Lane (3 and 6): heterozygous TC genotype - fragments of 273, 206 and 67 bp.

(C) Apal digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (4): homozygous CC genotype - fragments of 528 and 217 bp; Lane (1, 3, 5-8): heterozygous CA genotype - fragments of 745, 527 and 217 bp; Lane 2: homozygous AA genotype - fragment of 745 bp.

(D) Taql digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1, 6-8): homozygous TT genotype - fragment of 494 and 251 bp; Lane (5): homozygous CC genotype - fragments of 293; 251 and 201 bp; Lane (3, 4): heterozygous TC genotype with fragments of 494, 293, 251 and 201 bp.



Figure 3.4: Restriction digestion profile of the two metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms run on a 2 % agarose gel.

(A) MnII (*CYP2R1*) digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1, 4, 6, 7): heterozygous AG genotype - fragments of 258, 150, 108 and 29 bp; Lane (2, 3, 5, 8): homozygous GG genotype - fragments of 254 and 33 bp; Lane 9: Homozygous AA genotype - fragment of 287 bp.

(B) Tfil (*CYP27B1*) digestion profile: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1, 3, 6, 7, 9): GG genotype of *CYP27B1* – fragments of 138 and 49 bp; Lane (2, 4, 5 8): heterozygous GT genotype - fragments of 187, 137 and 49 bp.

3.4.1 Sequencing

Three samples, representing the three different genotypes, for each SNP were selected for sequencing to confirm the PCR - RFLP results. The results of the sequencing for the Apal SNP are shown in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5: Chromatograms obtained from the amplification of the *VDR* gene containing the Apal polymorphism

A: chromatogram illustrating a heterozygous CA individual for the Apal SNP

B: chromatogram illustrating a homozygous AA individual for the Apal SNP

C: chromatogram illustrating a homozygous CC individual for the Apal SNP

3.4.2 Genotypic and allelic frequencies of the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms in T1D patients and control participants

The T1D and control groups were in Hardy Weinberg equilibrium for all four variants of the *VDR* gene as well as the two variants of the metabolising enzyme genes (Appendix E). Table 3.2 summarises the genotypic and allelic frequencies obtained for the six polymorphisms studied in the T1D patients and control group. There were no significant differences seen in genotypic or allelic frequencies between T1D patients and controls in the four *VDR* and two metabolising enzyme gene SNPs investigated. Thus, these SNPs are not associated with the development of T1D in the black South African population.

Table 3.2: Genotypic and allelic frequencies of VDR and vitamin D metabolising enzymegene polymorphisms in T1D patients and controls

SNP	T1D patients	Controls	p value
	Frequency (n)	Frequency (n)	
Bsml			
Genotype model			
GG	0.67 (120)	0.61 (85)	0.474
GA	0.28 (49)	0.34 (47)	
AA	0.05 (9)	0.05 (7)	
Allele model			
G	0.81 (289)	0.79 (217)	0.331
A	0.19 (67)	0.21 (61)	
Fokl			
Genotype model			
TT	0.02 (4)	0.05 (8)	0.247
СТ	0.29 (53)	0.31 (47)	
СС	0.69 (126)	0.63 (95)	
Allele model			
Т	0.17 (61)	0.21 (63)	0.153
С	0.83 (305)	0.79 (237)	
Apal			
Genotype model			
CC	0.13 (24)	0.09 (13)	0.389
CA	0.43 (78)	0.43 (64)	
AA	0.44 (79)	0.48 (72)	
Allele model			
С	0.35 (126)	0.30 (90)	0.210
А	0.65 (236)	0.69 (208)	
Taql			
Genotype model			
ТТ	0.69 (123)	0.60 (89)	0.189
TC	0.27 (48)	0.36 (54)	
СС	0.04 (7)	0.04 (6)	
Allele model			
Т	0.83 (294)	0.78 (232)	0.129
С	0.17 (62)	0.22 (66)	

Table 3.2: Genotypic and allelic frequencies of *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms in T1D patients and controls continued

SNP	T1D patients	Controls	p value
	Frequency (n)	Frequency (n)	-
CYP2R1			
Genotype model			
GG	0.63 (113)	0.66 (100)	0.106
GA	0.32 (58)	0.33 (50)	
AA	0.04 (8)	0.01 (1)	
Allele model			
G	0.79 (284)	0.83 (250)	0.261
A	0.21 (74)	0.17 (52)	
CYP27B1			
Genotype model			
GG	0.81 (147)	0.85 (129)	0.261
GT	0.18 (35)	0.13 (20)	
TT	0.0 (0)	0.01 (2)	
Allele model			
G	0.90 (329)	0.92 (278)	0.451
Т	0.10 (35)	0.08 (24)	

3.4.3 Associations of the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms with vitamin D₃ levels in black South African participants

The FokI and TaqI polymorphisms within the *VDR* gene showed an association with vitamin D₃ levels (Table 3.3). The vitamin D₃ levels for the CC genotype of FokI were significantly lower than those for participants with the TC and TT genotypes (59.28 \pm 18.18 vs. 65.12 \pm 20.66 nmol/L; p = 0.009). Similarly, the vitamin D₃ levels for the CC/TC combined genotypes of TaqI were significantly lower than those for participants with the TT genotype (58.37 \pm 18.53 vs. 62.83 \pm 19.54 nmol/L; p = 0.047). The remaining *VDR* polymorphisms did not show an association with vitamin D₃ levels. Similarly, no associations were seen with the metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms and vitamin D₃ levels (Table 3.4).

Table 3.3: Associations of the *VDR* polymorphisms with vitamin D₃ levels in black SA participants

SNP	Genotype	Vitamin D ₃	p value
	(n)	(nmol/L)	
Beml#	GG (205)	61.88 ± 19.21	0.560
BSIIII"	AG + AA (112)	60.55 ± 19.46	0.500
Fakl#	CC (221)	59.28 ± 18.18	0.000*
FOKI	TC + TT (112)	65.12 ± 20.66	0.009
	CC (37)	63.16 ± 16.96	
Apal	CA (142)	61.76 ± 18.57	0.691
	AA (151)	60.43 ± 20.28	
Taal#	TT (212)	62.83 ± 19.54	0.047*
ומקו	TC + CC (115)	58.37 ± 18.53	0.047

Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A, T and C genotypes for the BsmI, FokI and TaqI SNPs, respectively, * indicates significant values

Table 3.4: Associations of the metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms with vitamin D₃ levels in black SA participants

SNP	Genotype	Vitamin D ₃	p value
		(nmol/L)	
	GG (GG)	61.32 ± 19.80	0.786
CTP2RT	GA + AA (117)	60.72 ± 18.14	0.700
CVD27D1#	GG (276)	61.59 ± 19.48	0.544
CYP27B1*	GT + TT (55)	59.89 ± 17.56	0.344

Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A and T genotypes for the *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* SNPs, respectively, * indicates significant values

Although no difference in genotypic or allelic frequencies were observed between T1D patients and control participants (Table 3.2) we subsequently investigated whether any associations existed between the genotypic frequencies obtained for the six polymorphisms and clinicopathological variables in the T1D patients.

3.4.4 *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genotypes and clinicopathological variables in T1D patients

The *VDR*, *CYP2R1* and the *CYP27B1* metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms and their association with different clinicopathological variables are summarised in Table 3.5 and 3.6, respectively. The *VDR* genotypes showed no statistically significant difference with any of the clinicopathological variables studied. Similarly, there were no significant associations observed with the *CYP2R1* and the *CYP27B1* metabolising enzyme genotypes and any of the variables investigated.

However, patients with the *CYP2R1* GG genotype showed a tendency towards lower ZnT8 AAb positivity when compared to patients with either AA or AC genotypes (13.3 % vs. 24.2 % positivity; p = 0.061). Similarly, patients with the *CYP27B1* GG genotype showed a tendency towards lower ZnT8 AAb positivity when compared to patients with either the TT or TC genotypes (15.0 % vs. 28.6 % positivity; p = 0.057).

Variable	Bs	ml genotype [#]		Fokl genotype [#]			
GG		AA+ GA	p value	CC	CT + TT	p value	
Age at diagnosis (years)	e at diagnosis 21.25 ± 7.65 19.26 ± 9.18		0.111	21.86 ± 8.41	20.19 ± 8.30	0.215	
Male (%)	nle (%) 53.3 58.		0.506	50.9	56.0	0.520	
Glucose (mmol/L)	8.3 [2.42; 32.17]	10.2 [2.95; 28.62]	0.240	9.2 [2.48; 32.22]	9.25 [2.42; 22.01]	0.587	
HbA1c (%)	10.61 ± 3.52	10.44 ± 3.19	0.772	11.03 ± 3.67	10.42 ± 3.29	0.275	
BMI (kg/m²)	23.18 [16.27; 45.68]	23.85 [14.99; 44.40]	0.869	23.73 [14.99; 45.61]	23.14 [16.34; 40.08]	0.387	
WHR	WHR 0.82 ± 0.07 0.82 ± 0.08		0.829	0.82 ± 0.07	0.82 ± 0.08	0.961	
Vitamin D₃ (nmol/L) 63.57 ± 20.81 61.60 ± 20		61.60 ± 20.99	0.556	68.17 ± 22.96	60.27 ± 19.23	0.017*	
GAD65 positivity (%)	52.0	49.1	0.730	49.1	55.3	0.474	
IA-2 positivity (%)	16.0	8.5	0.162	11.1	17.0	0.313	
ZnT8 positivity (%)	20.8	12.0	0.154	15.2	22.8	0.211	

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A, T and C genotypes for the Bsml, Fokl and Taql SNPs, respectively,* indicates significant value

Variable		Apal gen	otype	Taql genotype#			
	CC	СА	AA	p value	TT	TC + CC	p value
Age at diagnosis (years)	21.17 ± 10.01	20.46 ± 8.02	0.81 ± 8.28	0.928	20.89 ± 8.24	20.35 ± 8.76	0.689
Male (%)	45.8	56.4	54.4	0.660	52.8	56.4	0.664
Glucose (mmol/L)	10.40 [5.70; 16.80]	8.05 [5.25; 13.00]	9.75 [6.10; 13.30]	0.215	8.2 [2.78; 23.43]	9.85 [2.36; 32.17]	0.248
HbA1c (%)	10.77 ± 3.52	10.68 ± 3.69	10.56 ± 3.13	0.962	10.39 ± 3.34	11.27 ± 3.56	0.128
BMI (kg/m²)	23.73 [20.99; 25.51]	22.70 [21.30; 28.72]	23.96 [21.06; 27.96]	0.856	23.53 [16.07; 45.75]	23.49 [15.06; 44.40]	0.729
WHR	0.81 ± 0.07	0.82 ± 0.06	0.82 ± 0.09	0.744	0.82 ± 0.08	0.82 ± 0.07	0.625
Vitamin D₃ (nmol/L)	61.83 ± 19.44	65.06 ± 20.57	60.97 ± 21.35	0.454	63.53 ± 21.36	60.65 ± 19.72	0.396
GAD65 positivity (%)	54.5	50.7	50.8	0.947	49.5	54.2	0.594
IA-2 positivity (%)	22.7	7.2	14.3	0.131	11.7	14.6	0.613
ZnT8 positivity (%)	29.2	11.5	19.0	0.113	17.9	14.5	0.582

Table 3.5: Associations of the VDR polymorphisms with clinicopathological variables in T1D patients continued

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A, T and C genotypes for the Bsml, Fokl and Taql SNPs, respectively,* indicates significant value

		CYP2R1		CYP27B1		
Variable	GG	AA + GA	p value	GG	TT + GT	p value
Age at diagnosis (years)	20.42 ± 8.18	21.22 ± 8.81	0.543	20.83 ± 8.60	20.18 ± 7.25	0.683
Male (%)	59.3	47.0	0.110	55.1	51.4	0.695
Glucose (mmol/L)	9.45 [5.4; 13.2]	8.3 [5.7; 13.0]	0.947	9.25 [5.8; 13.3]	8.20 [5.4; 14.9]	0.452
HbA1c (%)	10.71 ± 3.54	10.42 ± 3.17	0.591	10.56 ± 3.43	10.89 ± 3.40	0.612
BMI (kg/m²)	23.13 [20.43; 28.02]	23.83 [21.73; 27.44]	0.702	23.24 [20.96; 27.64]	23.83 [22.22; 30.54]	0.083
WHR	0.82 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.07	0.531	0.82 ± 0.08	0.81 ± 0.07	0.635
Vitamin D ₃ (nmol/L)	64.08 ± 21.78	60.40 ± 18.89	0.255	63.88 ± 21.75	57.98 ± 15.14	0.130
GAD65 positivity (%)	47.9	57.1	0.272	51.2	50.0	0.910
IA-2 positivity (%)	11.5	16.1	0.417	11.8	17.9	0.388
ZnT8 positivity (%)	13.3	24.2	0.061	15.0	28.6	0.057

Table 3.6: Associations of the metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms with clinicopathological variables in T1D patients

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A and T genotypes for the CYP2R1 and CYP27B1 SNPs, respectively

3.5 Association of *VDR* risk alleles with vitamin D₃ levels in the total cohort

The A, C, A and C alleles for the Bsml, Fokl, Apal and Taql SNPs, respectively are the most common alleles that have been shown to be associated with T1D in the literature (see Table 1.2). Each individual can, therefore, have a maximum of eight *VDR* risk alleles and a minimum of zero. When participants were grouped according to the number of these T1D *VDR* risk alleles, vitamin D₃ levels were found to decrease with an increasing number of risk alleles (p = 0.006). Vitamin D₃ levels decreased from 66.53 ± 23.00 nmol/L (1 - 2 risk alleles) to 47.84 ± 13.80 nmol/L (7 – 8 risk alleles; Table 3.7).

Table	3.7:	Associations	of	the	VDR	gene	polymorphisms	with	clinicopathological
variabl	les in	the total coho	ort						

VDR gene risk alleles [#]	n	Vitamin D₃ levels (nmol/L)	p value
1 - 2	65	66.53 ± 23.00	
3 - 4	156	60.20 ± 16.64	0.006*
5 - 6	73	62.01 ± 20.83	0.000
7 - 8	14	47.81 ± 13.80	

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean \pm standard deviation for non-skewed data, # genotypes were combined due to the small n number for the homozygous A and T genotypes for the *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* SNPs, respectively

3.6 Association of Vitamin D_3 levels with increasing number of metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles in the total study cohort

The most common risk alleles for *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* have been shown to be the G alleles (Cooper et al., 2011, Hussein et al., 2012, Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007b, Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007a, Moran-Auth et al., 2013, Fichna et al., 2010). Each individual can have a maximum of four metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles and a minimum of zero. No association was seen between the number of risk alleles and vitamin D₃ levels (p = 0.122; Table 3.8).

Table 3.8: Association of vitamin D₃ levels and increasing number of metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles in the total cohort

Metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles [#]	n	Vitamin D₃ levels (nmol/L)	p value
0-1	4	67.26 ± 15.94	
2	25	62.93 ± 17.94	0 122
3	119	58.63 ± 18.25	0.122
4	178	62.52 ± 19.94	

* The VDR risk alleles were classified as A for the BsmI SNP, C for FokI SNP, A for ApaI and C for TaqI. Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

3.7 Number of *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles and their association with T1D patients

We then looked to see if there was any association between the number of *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles in the T1D patients with age at diagnosis, glucose levels, vitamin D₃ concentrations and percentage HbA1c (Table 3.9 and Table 3.10, respectively). None of the variables were found to be associated with an increased number of *VDR* risk alleles. Similarly, no associations with any variables were seen with an increasing number of metabolising enzyme risk alleles.

Variable	Number of <i>VDR</i> risk alleles [#]						
	1-2 (n)	3-4 (n)	5-6 (n)	7-8 (n)			
Age at diagnosis (years)	20.33 ± 7.76 (40)	20.93 ± 7.90 (83)	20.28 ± 9.65 (40)	19.89 ± 8.59 (9)	0.961		
Glucose (mmol/L)	10.15 [5.40;14.10] (38)	8.20 [5.30;13.20] (77)	9.85 [6.60;13.20] (38)	12.05 [5.10;12.90] (6)	0.867		
HbA1c (%)	10.84 ± 3.37 (38)	10.50 ± 3.58 (80)	10.48 ± 3.37 (36)	11.30 ± 1.52 (5)	0.920		
Vitamin D ₃ (nmol/L)	68.15 ± 26.62 (41)	61.86 ± 16.38 (83)	63.29 ± 27.68 (40)	47.30 ± 14.87 (9)	0.051		

Table 3.9: Associations between the number of VDR gene risk alleles and T1D related variables

[#] The VDR risk alleles were classified as A for the BsmI SNP, C for FokI SNP, A for Apal and C for TaqI. Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

Table 3.10: Associations between the number of vitamin D r	metabolising enzyme gene risk alleles and T1D related variables
--	---

Variable	Number of metabolising gene risk alleles#					
	0-1 (n)	2 (n)	3 (n)	4 (n)		
Age at diagnosis (years)	19.00 ± 2.65 (3)	18.94 ± 7.85 (16)	22.02 ± 8.77 (66)	20.01 ± 8.25 (92)	0.383	
Glucose (mmol/L)	10.80 [9.70;19.20] (3)	8.20 [5.70;15.00] (14)	8.20 [5.40;12.80] (61)	10.00 [5.80;14.50] (86)	0.431	
HbA1c (%)	8.93 ± 1.88 (3)	10.20 ± 3.40 (15)	10.78 ± 3.34 (60)	10.56 ± 3.50 (86)	0.777	
Vitamin D ₃ (nmol/L)	63.49 ± 17.23 (3)	60.83 ± 15.91 (16)	58.27 ± 19.25 (67)	66.21 ± 22.36 (92)	0.122	

* The metabolising enzyme risk alleles were classified as G for the CYP2R1 SNP and for the CYP27B1 SNP. Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

3.8 Multivariable linear regression model to determine which variables contribute to vitamin D₃ levels in the total cohort

Upon multiple regression analysis, sampling in spring and winter were found to be the strongest factors affecting vitamin D₃ concentrations in the total cohort (Table 3.11). Winter (beta = -18.20; p < 0.001) and spring (beta = -7. 66; p = 0.001) sampling were significant predictors of lower vitamin D₃ levels i.e. vitamin D₃ levels were 7.66 nmol/L lower in spring and 18.20 nmol/L lower in winter when compared to summer months.

Vitamin D₃ levels were 5.31 nmol/L higher in the male population in our cohort than the female cohort (beta = 5.31; p = 0.009).

Individuals with the Fokl combined CT and TT genotype had 5.34 nmol/L higher vitamin D_3 levels than those with the CC genotype (beta = 5.34; p = 0.013). The C allele has been noted as the risk allele.

Variables included in the regression analysis were BMI, gender, season, skin exposure, time outdoors, genotype, diabetic status and age.

Dependant variables	Independent Variables	b Value	p value	(R) and (p) value for whole model
	Spring	-7.66	0.001*	
	Winter	-18.20	<0.001*	-
Vitamin D ₃	Patient	4.94	0.021*	0.372
(n=334)	Male	5.31	0.009*	(<0.001)
	Fokl CT/TT	5.34	0.013*	
	Taql TT	3.99	0.060	

Table 3.11: Multivariable linear regression model to determine effects of different

* indicates significant values

3.9 GAD65 AAb positivity is predictive of the development of T1D

Logistic regression analysis showed that individuals who were shown to be GAD65 AAb positive were 23 fold more likely to develop T1D than GAD65 AAb negative individuals (confidence intervals 8.97 - 60.45; p < 0.001).

3.10 Association of GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity with clinicopathological variables in T1D patients

T1D patients positive for IA-2 AAbs were shown to have a significantly younger age at diagnosis than IA-2 AAb negative patients ($16.40 \pm 5.53 \text{ vs. } 21.62 \pm 8.56 \text{ years}$; p = 0.009) (Table 3.12). Similarly, ZnT8 AAb positivity was associated with a younger age at diagnosis ($17.00 \pm 6.49 \text{ vs. } 21.48 \pm 8.50 \text{ years}$; p = 0.006). The same trend was observed in GAD65 AAb positive patients however this did not reach significance ($19.68 \pm 8.70 \text{ vs. } 22.28 \pm 7.89 \text{ years}$; p = 0.055).

GAD65 AAb positivity was associated with a lower BMI (22.49 [20.96; 25.39] vs. 24.96 [21.72; 29.72]; p = 0.021). A similar association was seen for ZnT8 AAb positivity (BMI: 22.05 [19.39; 23.86] vs. 23.84 [21.38; 28.73]; p = 0.003). In addition, AAb positive patients were significantly younger than AAb negative patients (GAD65: p < 0.001; IA-2: p < 0.001; ZnT8: p < 0.001). ZnT8 AAb positivity was further associated with higher concentrations of glucose (10.85 [7.1; 16.1] vs. 8.4 [5.4; 13.2]; p = 0.045).

IA-2 negative patients had significantly lower vitamin D_3 levels than those with IA-2 AAbs (p = 0.035).

Variable	GAD65 AAb positivity			IA-2 AAb positivity			ZnT8 AAb positivity		
	Positive	Negative	р	Positive	Negative	р	Positive	Negative	р
	(n = 79)	(n = 76)	value	(n = 20)	(n = 135)	value	(n = 32)	(n = 150)	value
Age (years)	24.00 [14.03; 55.89]	32.50 [15.04; 56.05]	0.000*	21.50 [15.04; 35.97]	28.00 [13.88; 55.89]	0.000*	21.00 [14.05; 34.98]	29.00 [10.05; 56.09]	0.000*
Age at diagnosis (years)	19.68 ± 8.70	22.28 ± 7.89	0.055	16.40 ± 5.53	21.62 ± 8.56	0.009*	17.00 ± 6.49	21.48 ± 8.50	0.006*
Glucose (mmol/L)	9.75 [5.8; 15.3]	8.2 [5.1; 12.9]	0.225	8.3 [5.0; 16.8]	8.7 [5.4;13.2]	0.752	10.85 [7.1; 16.1]	8.4 [5.4; 13.2]	0.045*
HbA1c (%)	10.73 ± 3.29	10.01 ± 3.27	0.190	10.96 ± 3.46	10.30 ± 3.27	0.431	10.91 ± 3.50	10.56 ± 3.41	0.609
Vitamin D ₃ (nmol/L)	63.40 ± 19.34	59.77 ± 17.74	0.226	69.80 ± 20.87	60.41 ± 18.02	0.035*	61.04 ± 17.32	62.46 ± 19.98	0.710
Male (%)	59.5	52.6	0.389	65.0	54.8	0.392	59.4	53.3	0.533
BMI (kg/m²)	22.49 [20.96; 25.39]	24.96 [21.72; 29.72]	0.021*	23.12 [19.41; 27.24]	23.81 [21.34; 28.08]	0.294	22.05 [19.39; 23.86]	23.84 [21.38; 28.73]	0.003*

 Table 3.12: Clinicopathological variables according to GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb status in T1D patients

Results are presented as median values [lower and upper quartiles] for skewed data and as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

3.11 The association of duration of disease with AAb positivity

T1D patients were split into hexiles (1-6) and AAb positivity and duration of disease calculated. Table 3.13 summarises the results obtained for the first and last hexiles (hexile 1 and hexile 6). IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity was significantly higher in patients with a shorter duration of disease compared to those with a longer duration of disease (p = 0.032 and p = 0.008, respectively). Although it did not reach significance, a similar trend was observed for GAD65 AAb positivity and duration of disease (p = 0.088).

AAb	Hexile 1			He	р		
	Duration n		AAb	Duration	n	AAb	value
	(years)		positivity	(years)		positivity	
			(%)			(%)	
GAD65	0.46 ± 0.44	30	63.3	19.23 ± 5.26	27	40.7	0.088
IA-2	0.46 ± 0.44	30	20.0	18.12 ± 5.34	33	3.0	0.032*
ZnT8	0.46 ± 0.44	37	32.4	18.29 ± 5.25	38	7.9	0.008*

Table 3.13: The association of duration of disease with AAb positivity

Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

3.12 Association of the number of AAbs with clinicopathological variables in T1D patients

The greater the number of AAbs present the younger the age at diagnosis and the shorter the duration of disease. Patients with three AAbs were diagnosed at a much younger age (16.40 \pm 6.13 years) than patients who were AAb negative (22.63 \pm 8.00 years; p = 0.020). Similarly, the greater the number of AAbs present the shorter the duration of disease (3 AAb: 3.33 \pm 3.92 years vs. 0 AAb: 9.32 \pm 7.01 years; p = 0.020). The number of AAbs present did not have any effect on % HbA1c, glucose levels and vitamin D₃ levels (Table 3.14).

Variable	Number of autoantibodies (n)					
	0	1	2	3	value	
Age at diagnosis (years)	22.63 ± 8.00 (68)	21.04 ± 9.33 (55)	17.20 ± 6.11 (20)	16.40 ± 6.13 (10)	0.019*	
Duration of disease (years)	9.32 ± 7.01 (68)	7.57 ± 7.27 (56)	5.70 ± 3.97 (20)	3.33 ± 3.92 (10)	0.020*	
Glucose (mmol/L)	8.25 [5.15; 12.95] (64)	8.40 [5.40; 13.10] (51)	10.80 [5.80; 16.80] (17)	10.90 [5.80; 17.10] (9)	0.420	
HbA1c (%)	9.87 ± 3.14 (63)	10.89 ± 3.34 (52)	10.48 ± 3.67 (18)	10.83 ± 3.22 (10)	0.396	
Vitamin D ₃ (nmol/L)	59.20 ± 17.73 (69)	62.70 ± 18.69 (56)	64.29 ± 20.70 (20)	66.93 ± 20.23 (10)	0.465	

Table 3.14: Association of the number of AAbs within diabetic patients with

 clinicopathological variables

Results are presented as mean ± standard deviation for non-skewed data, * indicates significant values

3.13 Number of AAbs in individuals with a duration of disease less than one year

Within our cohort, of the 22 individuals who were recruited within one year of diagnosis, 19 had been screened for all three AAbs. Of these newly diagnosed T1D patients, 47.4% did not have any AAbs, 36.8% had one AAb and 15.8% had three AAbs (Table 3.15; p = 0.174).

Number of AAbs	% of newly diagnosed	P value		
	(n)			
0	47.4 (9)			
1	36.8 (7)	0.4.45		
2	0.0 (0)	0.145		
3	15.8 (3)			

Chapter 4

4 Discussion

T1D is a complex autoimmune disease thought to be the result of the interaction of environmental and genetic factors that result in the destruction of the insulin secreting β -cells of the pancreas. In recent years, interest has focused on vitamin D₃ and the role this hormone may play in the aetiology of T1D. Low levels of vitamin D₃ have been shown to be associated with T1D in many population groups (Greer et al., 2013, Hypponen et al., 2001). Polymorphisms within the *VDR* gene and vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes are believed to negatively influence vitamin D₃ levels (Garcia et al., 2007, Cooper et al., 2011, Hussein et al., 2012). However, these findings are not consistent across all populations studied. Thus, this study aimed to determine whether lower vitamin D₃ levels and polymorphisms within genes linked to vitamin D₃ function are involved in the development of T1D in the South African black population.

In our study lower vitamin D₃ levels were not associated with the development of T1D. In addition, no association was found between *VDR* and metabolising gene polymorphisms and T1D in the black South African population. The presence of the FokI CC and Taq TT genotype were however associated with lower levels of vitamin D₃. In addition, the greater the number of *VDR* risk alleles present, the lower the vitamin D₃ levels in our cohort. IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity was associated with a younger age at diagnosis and a shorter duration of disease. GAD65 AAb positivity was associated with a 23 fold increased risk of T1D development.

4.1 Clinical and phenotypic characteristics of T1D patients and controls

T1D patients are unable to control their blood glucose levels due to a lack of endogenous insulin production (Atkinson et al., 2014). Therefore, it is not surprising that glucose concentrations were significantly higher in T1D patients compared to controls (p < 0.001). BMI was significantly lower in the patient group compared to the control group (p < 0.001). It is possible that this difference in BMI may be explained by the patients having significantly lower numbers of female participants than controls

(45.6% vs. 56.9 %, respectively; p = 0.040). It is known that South African females tend to have a higher BMI than their male counterparts (27.1 kg/m² and 22.9 kg/m², respectively) (Puoane et al., 2002).

The majority of autoimmune diseases show a female bias with 1.5 to 5.5 times more female than male sufferers (Fairweather and Rose, 2004, Cooper and Stroehla, 2003). The ratio of T1D males to females in Europe varies widely with countries like Slovenia having a female predominance while Portugal had a higher number of males (Karvonen et al., 1997). In a European epidemiological study there was a greater male preponderance of T1D especially in individuals diagnosed between the ages of 25 -29 years of age (Kyvik et al., 2004). Similarly, in a Belgian study on white T1D patients there was a very strong male predominance of disease in T1D patients diagnosed between 20 - 39 years of ages (male : female = 2.4 : 1) (Vandewalle et al., 1993). A similar trend is observed in many African populations where a higher proportion of male T1D patients is seen (Kalk et al., 1993). In Ethiopia (0-78 years) and Nigeria (5-7 year olds) the ratio of males to females with T1D was 2:1 and 3:1, respectively (Alemu et al., 2009, Afoke et al., 1992). In Libyan T1D patients a male predominance was seen among the older patients (15-34 years) while a female predominance was shown in younger patients (0-14 years) (Kadiki et al., 1996). However, in studies carried out on black SA and Sudanese T1D patients no statistical difference in gender was noted (Elamin et al., 1989, Elamin et al., 1992, Kalk et al., 1993). Within our population gender was not significantly associated with risk of developing T1D (54.4% vs. 45.6 %, respectively; p = 0.401), supporting the study by Kalk and colleagues.

4.2 Black T1D patients have an older age at diagnosis

The majority (75.6%) of T1D patients in this cohort were diagnosed at \geq 15 years of age. The peak age at diagnosis of T1D was between 15 -24 years (42.2% of the T1D patients). In contrast, studies in European populations have shown the peak age of onset to be between 5 – 14 years of age, with the greatest increase in incidence seen in children below 5 years of age (Maahs et al., 2010, Harjutsalo et al., 2008, Atkinson et al., 2014). Studies on T1D patients in Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries support our data showing an older age of diagnosis than that seen in the white population. A
study by Kalk et al. found the peak age at onset in South African black T1D patients attending CHBAH to be 22 - 23 years of age (Kalk et al., 1993). Similarly, a study by Omar et al. conducted on South African black T1D patients from KwaZulu Natal showed a peak age at onset between 21 and 30 years of age (Omar et al., 1984). Tanzanian populations showed the age of onset in their cohorts to be 15 – 19 years of age (Swai et al., 1990). These findings demonstrate that black Africans have an average age at diagnosis approximately a decade later to that seen in white T1D populations, suggesting an ethnic difference in disease aetiology (Alemu et al., 2009, Kalk et al., 1993).

4.3 Allelic frequencies of *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzymes gene SNPs within the Black South African population do not differ from frequencies in other African populations

None of the SNPs investigated in this study deviated significantly from Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium and were thus considered representative of the population. The allelic frequencies found in our population did not differ significantly from those reported by the 1000 genomes project (Appendix F) for the African population (Genomes Project et al., 2015). However, allelic frequencies in our black population were significantly different to those seen in the European and East Asian populations with the exception of the Apal polymorphism. This polymorphism occurs at a similar frequency in the European population.

4.4 *VDR* and vitamin D₃ metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms are not associated with T1D in the South African black population

The genotypic and allelic frequencies for the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms were not significantly different in T1D patients compared to control participants. Thus, in the South African black population these SNPs are not associated with the development of T1D.

4.4.1 VDR SNPs

The majority of studies have found the Fokl C allele to be the risk allele for the development of T1D. The C allele was shown to be the risk allele in west Asia, western Spain, Japan, Iran and Korea (Wang et al., 2014, Zemunik et al., 2005, Ban et al., 2001, Bonakdaran et al., 2012, Cheon et al., 2015). In contrast a study on the Dalmatian population showed the Fokl T allele to be associated with the development of T1D. Results are not consistent between studies, even within the same population group as illustrated by the studies by Mohammadnejad et al. and Bonakdaran et al. where Mohammadnejad et al. failed to confirm the association of the homozygous CC genotype with the development of T1D as seen by Bonakdaran et al. in the Iranian population (Mohammadnejad et al., 2012, Bonakdaran et al., 2012). Studies in two distinct Spanish populations namely Navarra and Barcelona, showed conflicting results for the association of the Fokl polymorphism with T1D. In the Navarran population the Fokl TT genotype was lower in the T1D group compared to controls, whereas no association was seen in the Barcelonian population (Zemunik et al., 2005). Similarly, no associations were seen with the Fokl polymorphism and T1D in Saudi and Finnish populations (El-Beshbishy et al., 2015, Turpeinen et al., 2003).

The Bsml A allele has been associated with T1D in Asian populations (Wang et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2000, Cheon et al., 2015). Similarly, a study in the Chilean population found that the A allele was the risk allele for the development of T1D (Garcia et al., 2007). Despite numerous studies demonstrating the association of the Bsml A allele with T1D within different ethnic groups, the associations have not been replicated in all studies. No association was found with either Bsml allele in a cohort of pregnant T1D Saudi women (El-Beshbishy et al., 2015). This lack of association for Bsml was also seen within the Finnish and Iranian populations (Turpeinen et al., 2003, Mohammadnejad et al., 2012). Furthermore, no association was seen between the Bsml polymorphism and T1D in studies on the Australian, British and German populations (Pani et al., 2000, Greer et al., 2013, Nejentsev et al., 2004).

The Apal A allele was found to be the risk allele for the development of T1D in studies in the Taiwanese and Egyptian populations (Kamel et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2000). However, no association between Apal genotype and the development of T1D was found in Finnish, Iranian and Chilean populations (Turpeinen et al., 2003, Mohammadnejad et al., 2012, Garcia et al., 2007).

Studies on the Taql polymorphism and its association with T1D also show contradictory results. In Egyptians the T allele was found to be the risk allele associated with TID (Kamel et al., 2014). The T allele was also shown to be the risk allele in the Khorasan province of Iran (Bonakdaran et al., 2012). Conversely, the T allele was found to be protective in the Iranian population (Mohammadnejad et al., 2012). Depending on the study, both the T allele and the C allele have been shown to be protective against the development of T1D (Kamel et al., 2014, Bonakdaran et al., 2012, Mohammadnejad et al., 2012). Additional studies in the Taiwanese and Chilean studies have shown no association with either allele or the development of T1D (Chang et al., 2000, Garcia et al., 2007).

To our knowledge, no studies have previously looked at the association of the four *VDR* polymorphisms with T1D in the South African black population. It is clear that conflicting data exists regarding the association of *VDR* SNPs and T1D. These differences in results could be as a result of linkage disequilibrium between risk/ non risk alleles and the *VDR* gene. It is possible that lack of association within our population is due to ethnic differences and further studies within other South African ethnic groups are needed to confirm this.

4.4.2 Vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene SNPs

We found no association between the metabolising gene SNPs studied and T1D in the South African black population. A pilot study conducted in Germany similarly found no association between the *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* genes and T1D (Rose et al., 2013). Similar results were obtained in a Polish study where no significant differences were found in *CYP27B1* allelic or genotypic frequencies between T1D patients and healthy controls (Fichna et al., 2010).

These results are contradictory to those conducted in Egyptian, German and British populations where they showed that the *CYP2R1* and *CYP27B1* G alleles were

58

associated with T1D (Bailey et al., 2007, Cooper et al., 2011, Hussein et al., 2012, Lopez et al., 2004)

It is possible that due to a unique genetic makeup in our population, we failed to show an association.

4.5 Vitamin D₃ levels are not associated with T1D in the South African Black Population

Epidemiological studies have shown large geographical variation in the incidence of T1D. Countries in the Northern hemisphere with higher degrees of latitude correlate with a higher incidence of T1D (Mutlu et al., 2011, Mohr et al., 2008, Liu et al., 2015). At higher latitudes there is decreased sun exposure and thus less UVB rays available to initiate the synthesis of vitamin D₃ within the skin, resulting in decreased vitamin D₃ levels (Rose et al., 2013, Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013). Lower vitamin D₃ levels have previously been associated with the development of T1D (Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013, Mohr et al., 2008).

Vitamin D₃ acts together with RXR and VDR as a messenger to prompt a switch from the Th1 to the Th2 pathway. Within the nucleus, this complex leads to the activation or suppression of transcription of pro/anti-inflammatory cytokines (Kongsbak et al., 2013, Baeke et al., 2010, Prietl et al., 2013). When vitamin D₃ levels are sufficient, the Th2 pathway is favoured and thus β -cells are protected (Altieri et al., 2017, Kamen and Tangpricha, 2010).

There was no significant difference in vitamin D₃ levels between patients and controls when analysing the data using a t-test. This result remained unchanged after adjusting for skin exposure, time outdoors, age, genotype, BMI and season in which the participant was recruited. This is in contrast to studies, in different population groups, that have shown a relationship between low levels of vitamin D₃ and T1D (Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013, Bin-Abbas *et al.*, 2011).

In our cohort, the majority of individuals (73.5%) did not have sufficient levels of vitamin $D_{3.}$ Black South Africans have previously been shown to have low vitamin D_{3} levels

59

despite the sunny climate (Lategan et al., 2016). Possible causes of this insufficiency include, inactivity, smoking, high alcohol consumption and dietary choices (Green et al., 2015). It is possible that within our population, the difference in vitamin D_3 levels between T1D patients and controls are small due to the prevailing vitamin D_3 deficiency in the population. Thus, it would be interesting to determine whether differences in vitamin D_3 levels would be seen in a vitamin D_3 sufficient population.

4.5.1 Vitamin D₃ and seasonal variation

Within our cohort we found that season of sampling was associated with vitamin D₃ levels. Vitamin D₃ levels of individuals sampled in winter were on average 18.20 nmol/L lower that those sampled in summer. Similarly, individuals sampled in spring had on average 7.66 nmol/L less vitamin D₃ than those sampled in summer (Table 3.11). This result may be explained by decreased skin exposure in the winter months due to warmer clothes, as well as shorter days. During spring vitamin D₃ levels would begin to rise due to increased sun exposure, however levels would not be equivalent to those observed in the summer months due to the longer duration and intensity of skin exposure.

Seasonal variations within vitamin D_3 levels are well established (Greer et al., 2013, Chakhtoura and Azar, 2013). Interestingly, seasonal patterns of T1D onset have also been observed with the majority of new cases presenting in the autumn/ winter months (Greer *et al.*, 2013, Atkinson *et al.*, 2014). Large amounts of melanin in the epidermal layer of individuals causing darker skin types may have reduced the ability of the skin to produce vitamin D (Nair and Maseeh, 2012). In addition, offspring born during spring and winter months tend to be at an increased risk of developing T1D (Simmons and Michels, 2015). Unfortunately, within our cohort, we did not have sufficient information relating to month of diagnosis to determine whether our population follows this trend. Within our cohort, we found seasonal variation in vitamin D_3 levels with the highest levels seen in the summer months and the lowest levels seen in the winter months.

4.5.2 Vitamin D₃ and gender

The male population in our cohort had significantly higher vitamin D₃ levels than the female cohort (p = 0.009; Table 3.11). Similar results were seen with a study by Verdoia et al. where females showed lower vitamin D₃ levels than their male counterparts (p = 0.007) (Verdoia et al., 2015). In contrast, a Swedish study showed that vitamin D₃ levels in male diabetic patients were significantly lower than female diabetic patients at diagnosis (p < 0.0001) (Littorin et al., 2006). Similar results were obtained in an Asian Indian study where males showed lower vitamin D₃ levels than females (p < 0.02).

The lower vitamin D₃ levels seen in females in our study may be due to their higher BMI. It is well known that South African black women have a higher BMI than the male population (Puoane et al., 2002). This finding was replicated in our study with males having a lower BMI than females (23.30 [14.99; 42.85] vs. 26.65 [16.82; 46.09]; p < 0.001). It has been shown that vitamin D₃ levels correlate negatively with BMI and decline with increasing obesity (Baradaran et al., 2012). It is hypothesised that vitamin D₃ is sequestered within the adipocytes thus preventing it from being available in circulation (Kavaric et al., 2013). In addition, obese individuals may not get enough vitamin D₃ due to a lack of sunlight exposure as a result of decreased mobility or covered clothing habits (Saneei et al., 2013).

Therefore, the discrepancy in vitamin D_3 levels between genders seen in our study could be explained by the lower BMI of males vs. females. In addition, differences in social activities such as spending more time outdoor (such as playing a sport) or outdoor work could result in higher levels of vitamin D_3 observed in the men.

4.6 The Fokl CC genotype is associated with lower levels of vitamin D₃

Individuals homozygous for the Fokl C allele had significantly lower vitamin D_3 levels (p = 0.009) compared to participants with the T allele. This significance remained (p = 0.013) when controlling for BMI, gender, season, time outdoors, skin exposure, diabetic status and age. Individuals with the CC genotype had 5.34 nmol/L lower

vitamin D_3 levels than those with the TC and TT genotypes. However, this change in vitamin D_3 levels may be too small to have a clinical effect, and thus does not predispose individuals to T1D in our population.

The Fokl polymorphism results in a T to C substitution leading to a three amino acid shorter VDR protein (Jurutka et al., 2000, Uitterlinden et al., 2004a). The shorter protein is 1.7 fold more active than the longer variant (T allele) (Uitterlinden et al., 2004a). In addition, the presence of the short variant results in increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine genes, under the transcriptional control of NFAT and NF- κ B, resulting in β -cell death (van Etten et al, 2007). It is possible that the increased cytokine transcription occurs through the same mechanism as seen in bone mineralisation via the transcription factor, inducing basal transcription factor IIB (TFIIB) (Jurutka et al., 2000). The Fokl polymorphism resides in a region (the activation function 1-like domain (AF-1) in the N-terminal of the zinc fingers) known to bind to TFIIB. Due to the differential interaction of the short form of VDR with TFIIB, more potent transcriptional activity occurs (Jurutka et al., 2000). The AF-1 domain may also be involved in binding to NFAT and NF- κ B. Vitamin D₃ inhibits the proliferation of Th1 cells modulating the immune response (Jurutka et al., 2000, Moran-Auth et al., 2015).

4.7 The Taql TT genotype association with higher levels of vitamin D₃

When performing a t-test, the TaqI TT genotype was found to be associated with significantly higher levels of vitamin D_3 (p = 0.047). However, when controlling for BMI, gender, season, time outdoors, skin exposure, diabetic status and age the association disappeared (p = 0.060). It is possible that if a larger cohort was studied this may reach significance.

No association between vitamin D_3 levels and the BsmI and ApaI polymorphisms were found in our study. Most studies looked at the association of the *VDR* polymorphisms with the development of T1D however, the effect of *VDR* polymorphisms on serum vitamin D_3 concentration, to our knowledge, have not been previously investigated.

4.8 Vitamin D metabolising gene polymorphisms had no effect on vitamin D₃ levels

Within our cohort, we found no association with metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms and circulating levels of vitamin D_3 . In other studies, *CYP2R1* polymorphisms have been associated with lower vitamin D_3 levels. Patients with the GG or GA genotype in the German population had lower vitamin D_3 levels compared to control participants (Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007a, Cooper et al., 2011). Similarly, diabetic patients in the Egyptian population with the *CYP2R1* GG genotype had lower levels of vitamin D_3 to those with AA genotype (Hussein et al., 2012).

Egyptian individuals with the *CYP27B1* GG genotype had lower vitamin D₃ levels (Hussein et al., 2012). The presence of the *CYP27B1* G allele results in reduced *CYP27B1* mRNA levels. This causes a decrease in the amount of active 1α -hydroxylase and thus decreased conversion of $25(OH)D_3$ to $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$, and ultimately lower serum vitamin D₃ levels (Ramos-Lopez et al., 2007b, Moran-Auth et al., 2013). No association between the *CYP27B1* genes, T1D and vitamin D₃ levels were seen in a German study (Rose et al., 2013).

4.9 The effect of the VDR risk alleles on vitamin D₃ levels is additive

The *VDR* risk alleles in the study cohort were A, C, A and C for Bsml, Fokl, Apal and Taql respectively. These risk alleles were based on associations seen in other studies (Table 3.8). Individuals with 7-8 of the *VDR* risk alleles had significantly lower vitamin D_3 levels. Interestingly, when the *VDR* risk alleles in the patient group were compared to vitamin D_3 levels, this significance was lost (p = 0.051) indicating that there may be other factors at play in the T1D group.

4.10 Autoantibody frequencies in black South African T1D patients

The appearance of AAbs to GAD65, IA-2, ZnT8 or insulin are currently the most widely used markers for the prediction of T1D. GAD65 AAbs are the most prevalent of the T1D associated AAbs followed by IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs. In general, GAD65 AAbs are

the most stable and persist throughout the disease, while IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb frequencies decrease with increasing duration of the disease (Kawasaki et al., 2011a, Richardson et al., 2013). The measurement of IAA are not useful following the initiation of insulin therapy as antibodies develop to the exogeneously administered insulin (Sutton et al., 1988). The number of AAbs, rather than the order in which they appear or the titres of an individual AAb, are predictive of an individual's risk of developing T1D (Pihoker et al., 2005, Verge et al., 1996).

Within our cohort GAD65 AAbs were the most prevalent (51%) of the three autoantibodies studied and GAD65 AAb positivity was associated with a 23 fold increased risk of T1D. ZnT8 AAbs were found in 17.6% of patients while only 12.9% of T1D patients were IA-2 AAb positive. Due to the fact that all our patients were taking insulin, we did not measure IAA. These AAbs appear to be more prevalent in white populations with frequencies ranging between 70 - 80%, 32 - 75% and 60 - 80% for GAD65, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs in newly diagnosed T1D patients, respectively (Notkins and Lernmark, Winter, Wenzlau et al 2007, Andersson et al, 2011).

Within African American T1D patients, GAD65 AAbs have been found at a frequency of 54 - 75% while IA-2 AAbs were found at a frequency of 38 - 51% (Libman et al., 2003, Leech et al., 1995, Lipton et al., 2011). A Tunisian study on newly diagnosed diabetic patients found similar frequencies for GAD65 (65.1%) and IA-2 AAbs (43%) to those seen in the African American population (Fakhfakh et al, 2008). In contrast, a Cameroonian study, showed only 34% GAD65 AAb positivity and 6.4% IA-2 AAb positivity (Hawa et al, 2006). A study on Somalian T1D patients living in Minnesota found a ZnT8 AAb prevalence of 26% (Sunni et al, 2017). In Algeria, the frequency for ZnT8 AAbs was reported as 46.3% (Lounici Boudiaf et al., 2018). As the Algerian population consists of 99% Arab ethnicity and only 15% of Somalia is black African, we are unable to use this data as an accurate comparison with our ZnT8 AAb frequency was higher (57.9%) than that observed in our study (Wenzlau et al., 2015).

A study by Panz et al. showed that 44% of black South African T1D patients were GAD65 AAb positive (Panz et al., 2000). Similarly, another South African study by Rheeder et al. showed that GAD65 AAbs were found in 33% of black patients vs. 67%

of the white patients (Rheeder et al., 2001). To our knowledge, no studies have looked at the frequency of IA-2 or ZnT8 AAbs in South African black T1D patients.

Our population showed similar frequencies for IA-2 AAb positivity to that seen in a Tanzanian (12.8%) and Cameroonian study (6.4%) (Lutale et al., 2007, Hawa et al., 2006). However, they differed significantly to a study in Tunisia (43%). It is possible that this discrepancy is due to the Tunisian study being reported in newly diagnosed T1D patients and it is well documented that the frequency of IA-2 AAbs decline with increased disease duration. GAD65 AAb positivity from studies conducted in black South African and SSA T1D patients were similar to that seen in our study.

A number of factors can influence the differences observed in AAb positivity. These include the age of the patient at diagnosis, duration of disease and ethnicity (as seen above).

4.10.1 AAb positivity and age at diagnosis

IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb frequencies decline with increasing age at diagnosis (Gorus et al., 1997, Verkauskiene et al., 2016, Wenzlau et al., 2007). In contrast, a number of studies have shown that GAD65 AAb positivity is associated with an older age at diagnosis (Thai et al., 1997, Verkauskiene et al., 2016, Vandewalle et al., 1995). In our study, IA-2 and ZnT8 autoantibody positivity was associated with a younger age at diagnosis. A similar trend was observed for GAD65 AAb positive patients, however this did not reach significance. In addition, our T1D patients had an earlier age of diagnosis with an increasing number of AAbs (16.40 \pm 6.13 vs. 22.63 \pm 8.00 years, for 3 vs. 0 AAbs respectively; p = 0.019).

Interestingly, several studies have shown that IA-2 AAb positivity is associated with the age of the patient rather than the age at diagnosis (Cheng et al., 2018, Gorus et al., 1997, Tridgell et al., 2011). The majority of our South African black T1D patients were diagnosed between the ages of 15 - 24 years. Therefore, it is possible that the lower frequency of IA-2 AAb positivity seen within our population is as a result of the later age at which this population develops T1D.

4.10.2 AAb positivity and duration of disease

IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb frequencies and titres decline with increasing duration of disease (Kawasaki et al., 2011b, Cheng et al., 2018, Wenzlau et al., 2015). GAD65 AAb are found in patients of all age groups and remain persistently positive throughout the duration of disease even though titres may decline slightly (Fida et al., 2001, Thai et al., 1997). However, this trend is not always seen (Verkauskiene et al., 2016).

In our study, IA-2 and ZnT8 AAb positivity was significantly higher in patients with a shorter duration of disease (p = 0.032 and p = 0.008, respectively). GAD65 AAb positivity showed a similar trend with disease duration, however this did not reach significance (p = 0.088).

It is possible that the decline in AAb positivity seen over time is due to continuous destruction of β -cells (Cheng et al., 2018). As the β -cells are destroyed, fewer antigens are presented to B cells and hence fewer AAb are produced.

4.10.3 Number of autoantibodies and T1D positivity

Many studies show that multiple AAbs are found in their highest titres at onset of disease (Ziegler et al., 2012). In white populations, only 10-15% of T1D patients do not present with any AAbs. In contrast, studies in African American T1D patients show that 50-60% are AAb negative (Babu et al, 2001; Tiberti et al, 2000).

Within our study we found that 6.5% of the patients were positive for all three autoantibodies, 13.1% were positive for two autoantibodies, 35.9% were positive for one autoantibody and 44.4% were autoantibody negative (data not shown). In contrast, when looking at the newly diagnosed patients (12.1% of the total cohort with < 1 year duration), 15.8% had three AAbs present, 36.8% had one AAb and the majority of newly diagnosed patients (47.4%) had no AAbs. In Africa the percentage of individuals positive for more than one AAb ranged from 8.5 to 81.4% (Lutale et al., 2007, Fakhfakh et al., 2008). Within white populations, 90% of newly diagnosed patients have one or more AAbs (Ziegler et al., 2013, Nokoff and Rewers, 2013). Thus, there seem to be ethnic differences in the number of AAb present in an individual.

The presence of AAbs can be used to confirm diabetes status in South African patients; however, the lack of AAbs is not sufficient to exclude a T1D diagnosis.

4.11 Limitations of the study

It is possible that the n number for the study cohort may not have been large enough to see all effects. In this study we did not determine the effects of haplotypes on diabetic status.

GAD65 AAbs are found in adult T1D patients that have been diagnosed later in life. These patients are referred to as latent autoimmune diabetes of adults (LADA) (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001). Within the SA black population, we see a later age of onset for diagnosed T1D diabetics, many of whom present with GAD65 AAbs. Thus it is important to consider the possibility that some of the late onset patients may in fact be LADA patients and not true T1D patients. However, the current patients all required insulin within six months of diagnosis and are therefore most probably not misclassified. Furthermore, not all participants were screened for all AAbs and therefore the frequencies reported may not be accurate.

Chapter 5

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the *VDR* and vitamin D metabolising enzyme gene polymorphisms were not associated with the development of T1D within our black South African population. The presence of the FokI CC genotype was associated with lower levels of vitamin D₃. In our study we showed that there was an inversely proportional relationship between the number of *VDR* risk alleles and vitamin D₃ levels. Interestingly, despite this association, the presence of risk alleles did not predispose to T1D, implying that vitamin D₃ may not impact on T1D disease progression in this cohort.

The age at diagnosis within our population was found to be at least a decade later than that seen in white populations with 75.6% of patients being diagnosed at \geq 15 years of age. Within our cohort 12.1 % were recruited within the first year of diagnosis. Of the newly diagnosed individuals, 47.4% were AAb negative, which is a much higher frequency than that found in white populations, indicating that AAb negativity within our population is not sufficient to exclude the diagnosis of T1D. Black South African individuals who are AAb positive are more likely to develop T1D at an earlier age than those who are AAb negative. In addition, the greater the number of AAbs for which an individual is positive, the younger the age at diagnosis.

Black South African individuals who are GAD65 AAb positive are 23 fold more likely to develop T1D than GAD65 negative patients. IA-2 and ZnT8 AAbs within our population decline over the duration of disease, whereas GAD65 AAbs remained prevalent throughout disease progression.

Thus, our black South African population may have a unique disease aetiology which warrants further investigation.

6 References

- ACHENBACH, P., KOCZWARA, K., KNOPFF, A., NASERKE, H., ZIEGLER, A. G. & BONIFACIO, E. 2004. Mature high-affinity immune responses to (pro)insulin anticipate the autoimmune cascade that leads to type 1 diabetes. *J Clin Invest*, 114, 589-97.
- AFOKE, A. O., EJEH, N. M., NWONU, E. N., OKAFOR, C. O., UDEH, N. J. & LUDVIGSSON, J. 1992. Prevalence and clinical picture of IDDM in Nigerian Igbo schoolchildren. *Diabetes Care*, 15, 1310-2.
- AL-DAGHRI, N. M., AL-ATTAS, O. S., ALOKAIL, M. S., ALKHARFY, K. M., YAKOUT, S. M., ALJOHANI, N. J., AL FAWAZ, H., AL-AJLAN, A. S., SHESHAH, E. S., AL-YOUSEF, M. & ALHARBI, M. 2014. Lower vitamin D status is more common among Saudi adults with diabetes mellitus type 1 than in non-diabetics. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 153.
- ALEMU, S., DESSIE, A., SEID, E., BARD, E., LEE, P. T., TRIMBLE, E. R., PHILLIPS, D. I. & PARRY, E. H. 2009. Insulin-requiring diabetes in rural Ethiopia: should we reopen the case for malnutritionrelated diabetes? *Diabetologia*, 52, 1842-5.
- ALI, R., FAWZY, I., MOHSEN, I. & SETTIN, A. 2018. Evaluation of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms (Fok-I and Bsm-I) in T1DM Saudi children. *J Clin Lab Anal*, 32, e22397.
- ALTIERI, B., MUSCOGIURI, G., BARREA, L., MATHIEU, C., VALLONE, C. V., MASCITELLI, L., BIZZARO, G., ALTIERI, V. M., TIRABASSI, G., BALERCIA, G., SAVASTANO, S., BIZZARO, N., RONCHI, C. L., COLAO, A., PONTECORVI, A. & DELLA CASA, S. 2017. Does vitamin D play a role in autoimmune endocrine disorders? A proof of concept. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*.
- AMERICAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION 2004. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 27 Suppl 1, S5-S10.
- AMERICAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION 2012. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 35 Suppl 1, S64-71.
- AMERICAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION 2013. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, 36 Suppl 1, S67-74.
- ARNSON, Y., AMITAL, H. & SHOENFELD, Y. 2007. Vitamin D and autoimmunity: new aetiological and therapeutic considerations. *Ann Rheum Dis,* 66, 1137-42.
- ATKINSON, M. A. 2012. The pathogenesis and natural history of type 1 diabetes. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2.
- ATKINSON, M. A. & EISENBARTH, G. S. 2001. Type 1 diabetes: new perspectives on disease pathogenesis and treatment. *Lancet*, 358, 221-9.
- ATKINSON, M. A., EISENBARTH, G. S. & MICHELS, A. W. 2014. Type 1 diabetes. Lancet, 383, 69-82.
- AZAR, S. T., TAMIM, H., BEYHUM, H. N., HABBAL, M. Z. & ALMAWI, W. Y. 1999. Type I (insulindependent) diabetes is a Th1- and Th2-mediated autoimmune disease. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 6, 306-10.
- BAEKE, F., TAKIISHI, T., KORF, H., GYSEMANS, C. & MATHIEU, C. 2010. Vitamin D: modulator of the immune system. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 10, 482-96.
- BAEKKESKOV, S., AANSTOOT, H.-J., CHRISTGAI, S., REETZ, A., SOLIMENA, M., CASCALHO, M., FOLLI, F., RICHTER-OLESEN, H. & CAMILLI, P.-D. 1990. Identification of the 64K autoantigen in insulindependent diabetes as the GABA-synthesizing enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Nature*, 347, 151.
- BAEKKESKOV, S., NIELSEN, J. H., MARNER, B., BILDE, T., LUDVIGSSON, J. & LERNMARK, A. 1982. Autoantibodies in newly diagnosed diabetic children immunoprecipitate human pancreatic islet cell proteins. *Nature*, 298, 167-9.
- BAILEY, R., COOPER, J. D., ZEITELS, L., SMYTH, D. J., YANG, J. H., WALKER, N. M., HYPPONEN, E., DUNGER, D. B., RAMOS-LOPEZ, E., BADENHOOP, K., NEJENTSEV, S. & TODD, J. A. 2007. Association of the vitamin D metabolism gene CYP27B1 with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 56, 2616-21.

- BAN, Y., TANIYAMA, M., YANAGAWA, T., YAMADA, S., MARUYAMA, T., KASUGA, A. & BAN, Y. 2001.
 Vitamin D receptor initiation codon polymorphism influences genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes mellitus in the Japanese population. *BMC Med Genet*, 2, 7.
- BARADARAN, A., BEHRADMANESH, S. & NASRI, H. 2012. Association of body mass index and serum vitamin D level in healthy Iranian adolescents. *Endokrynol Pol*, 63, 29-33.
- BIN-ABBAS, B. S., JABARI, M. A., ISSA, S. D., AL-FARES, A. H. & AL-MUHSEN, S. 2011. Vitamin D levels in Saudi children with type 1 diabetes. *Saudi Med J*, 32, 589-92.
- BINGLEY, P. J., WILLIAMS, A. J., COLMAN, P. G., GELLERT, S. A., EISENBARTH, G., YU, L., PERDUE, L. H., PIERCE, J. J., HILNER, J. E., NIERRAS, C., AKOLKAR, B., STEFFES, M. W. & T1DGC 2010. Measurement of islet cell antibodies in the Type 1 Diabetes Genetics Consortium: efforts to harmonize procedures among the laboratories. *Clin Trials*, 7, S56-64.
- BONAKDARAN, S., ABBASZADEGAN, M. R., DADKHAH, E. & KHAJEH-DALOUIE, M. 2012. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a new pattern from Khorasan Province, Islamic Republic of Iran. *East Mediterr Health J*, 18, 614-9.
- BONIFACIO, E., YU, L., WILLIAMS, A. K., EISENBARTH, G. S., BINGLEY, P. J., MARCOVINA, S. M., ADLER, K., ZIEGLER, A. G., MUELLER, P. W., SCHATZ, D. A., KRISCHER, J. P., STEFFES, M. W. & AKOLKAR, B. 2010. Harmonization of glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2 autoantibody assays for national institute of diabetes and digestive and kidney diseases consortia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95, 3360-7.
- BOTTAZZO, G. F., FLORIN-CHRISTENSEN, A. & DONIACH, D. 1974. Islet-cell antibodies in diabetes mellitus with autoimmune polyendocrine deficiencies. *Lancet*, *2*, 1279-83.
- CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY. 2018. *The World Fact Book* [Online]. United States of America: Central Intelligence Agency. Available: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-worldfactbook/ [Accessed 25 July 2018].
- CHAKHTOURA, M. & AZAR, S. T. 2013. The role of vitamin d deficiency in the incidence, progression, and complications of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Endocrinol*, 2013, 148673.
- CHANG, T. J., LEI, H. H., YEH, J. I., CHIU, K. C., LEE, K. C., CHEN, M. C., TAI, T. Y. & CHUANG, L. M. 2000. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms influence susceptibility to type 1 diabetes mellitus in the Taiwanese population. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 52, 575-80.
- CHENG, B. W., LO, F. S., WANG, A. M., HUNG, C. M., HUANG, C. Y., TING, W. H., YANG, M. O., LIN, C. H., CHEN, C. C., LIN, C. L., WU, Y. L. & LEE, Y. J. 2018. Autoantibodies against islet cell antigens in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Oncotarget*, 9, 16275-16283.
- CHEON, C. K., NAM, H. K., LEE, K. H., KIM, S. Y., SONG, J. S. & KIM, C. 2015. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and type 1 diabetes mellitus in a Korean population. *Pediatr Int*, 57, 870-4.
- COOKE, N. E., MURGIA, A. & MCLEOD, J. F. 1988. Vitamin D-binding protein. Structure and pattern of expression. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 538, 49-59.
- COOPER, G. S. & STROEHLA, B. C. 2003. The epidemiology of autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev,* 2, 119-25.
- COOPER, J. D., SMYTH, D. J., WALKER, N. M., STEVENS, H., BURREN, O. S., WALLACE, C., GREISSL, C., RAMOS-LOPEZ, E., HYPPONEN, E., DUNGER, D. B., SPECTOR, T. D., OUWEHAND, W. H., WANG, T. J., BADENHOOP, K. & TODD, J. A. 2011. Inherited variation in vitamin D genes is associated with predisposition to autoimmune disease type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 60, 1624-31.
- CULLEN, S. P., BRUNET, M. & MARTIN, S. J. 2010. Granzymes in cancer and immunity. *Cell Death Differ*, 17, 616-23.
- DE OLIVEIRA, C., HIRANI, V. & BIDDULPH, J. P. 2018. Associations Between Vitamin D Levels and Depressive Symptoms in Later Life: Evidence From the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA). J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 73, 1377-1382.
- DEEB, K. K., TRUMP, D. L. & JOHNSON, C. S. 2007. Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **7**, 684-700.
- DONG, J. Y., ZHANG, W. G., CHEN, J. J., ZHANG, Z. L., HAN, S. F. & QIN, L. Q. 2013. Vitamin D intake and risk of type 1 diabetes: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutrients*, **5**, 3551-62.

EGRO, F. M. 2013. Why is type 1 diabetes increasing? *J Mol Endocrinol*, 51, R1-13.

- EISENBARTH, G. S. 1986. Type I diabetes mellitus. A chronic autoimmune disease. *N Engl J Med*, 314, 1360-8.
- EL-BESHBISHY, H. A., TAWFEEK, M. A., TAHA, I. M., FADULELAHI, T., SHAHEEN, A. Y., BARDI, F. A. & SULTAN, II 2015. Association of vitamin D receptor gene Bsml (A>G) and FokI (C>T) polymorphism in gestational diabetes among Saudi Women. *Pak J Med Sci*, 31, 1328-33.
- ELAMIN, A., OMER, M. I., HOFVANDER, Y. & TUVEMO, T. 1989. Prevalence of IDDM in schoolchildren in Khartoum, Sudan. *Diabetes Care*, 12, 430-2.
- ELAMIN, A., OMER, M. I., ZEIN, K. & TUVEMO, T. 1992. Epidemiology of childhood type I diabetes in Sudan, 1987-1990. *Diabetes Care*, 15, 1556-9.
- ERGUN-LONGMIRE, B. & MACLAREN, N. K. 2000. Etiology and Pathogenesis of Diabetes Mellitus IN Children. *In:* DE GROOT, L. J., CHROUSOS, G., DUNGAN, K., FEINGOLD, K. R., GROSSMAN, A., HERSHMAN, J. M., KOCH, C., KORBONITS, M., MCLACHLAN, R., NEW, M., PURNELL, J., REBAR, R., SINGER, F. & VINIK, A. (eds.) *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA).
- FAIRWEATHER, D. & ROSE, N. R. 2004. Women and autoimmune diseases. *Emerg Infect Dis,* 10, 2005-11.
- FAKHFAKH, R. 2011. Genetic Markers, Serological AutoAntibodies and Prediction of Type 1 Diabetes. *In:* WAGNER, D. (ed.) *Type 1 Diabetes - Pathogenesis, Genetics and Immunotherapy*. InTech.
- FAKHFAKH, R., HADDOUK, S., HADJ HAMIDA, Y. B., KAMOUN, T., AYED, M. B., HACHICHA, M. & MASMOUDI, H. 2008. Pancreatic autoantibodies in Tunisian children with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes. *Pathol Biol (Paris)*, 56, 130-2.
- FICHNA, M., ZURAWEK, M., JANUSZKIEWICZ-LEWANDOWSKA, D., FICHNA, P. & NOWAK, J. 2010. PTPN22, PDCD1 and CYP27B1 polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes in Polish patients. *Int J Immunogenet*, 37, 367-72.
- FIDA, S., MYERS, M., MACKAY, I. R., ZIMMET, P. Z., MOHAN, V., DEEPA, R. & ROWLEY, M. J. 2001. Antibodies to diabetes-associated autoantigens in Indian patients with Type 1 diabetes: prevalence of anti-ICA512/IA2 and anti-SOX13. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 52, 205-11.
- FINEBERG, S. E., KAWABATA, T. T., FINCO-KENT, D., FOUNTAINE, R. J., FINCH, G. L. & KRASNER, A. S. 2007. Immunological responses to exogenous insulin. *Endocr Rev*, 28, 625-52.
- FOULIS, A. K., LIDDLE, C. N., FARQUHARSON, M. A., RICHMOND, J. A. & WEIR, R. S. 1986. The histopathology of the pancreas in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: a 25-year review of deaths in patients under 20 years of age in the United Kingdom. *Diabetologia*, 29, 267-74.
- GARCIA, D., ANGEL, B., CARRASCO, E., ALBALA, C., SANTOS, J. L. & PEREZ-BRAVO, F. 2007. VDR polymorphisms influence the immune response in type 1 diabetic children from Santiago, Chile. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 77, 134-40.
- GENOMES PROJECT, C., AUTON, A., BROOKS, L. D., DURBIN, R. M., GARRISON, E. P., KANG, H. M., KORBEL, J. O., MARCHINI, J. L., MCCARTHY, S., MCVEAN, G. A. & ABECASIS, G. R. 2015. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature*, 526, 68-74.
- GINTER, E. & SIMKO, V. 2012. Global prevalence and future of diabetes mellitus. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 771, 35-41.
- GORUS, F. K., GOUBERT, P., SEMAKULA, C., VANDEWALLE, C. L., DE SCHEPPER, J., SCHEEN, A., CHRISTIE,
 M. R. & PIPELEERS, D. G. 1997. IA-2-autoantibodies complement GAD65-autoantibodies in new-onset IDDM patients and help predict impending diabetes in their siblings. The Belgian Diabetes Registry. *Diabetologia*, 40, 95-9.
- GRAMMATIKI, M., KARRAS, S. & KOTSA, K. 2018. The role of vitamin D in the pathogenesis and treatment of diabetes mellitus: a narrative review. *Hormones (Athens)*.
- GREEN, R. J., SAMY, G., MIQDADY, M. S., EL-HODHOD, M., AKINYINKA, O. O., SALEH, G., HADDAD, J., ALSAEDI, S. A., MERSAL, A. Y., EDRIS, A. & SALAH, M. 2015. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency in Africa and the Middle East, despite year-round sunny days. *S Afr Med J*, 105, 603-5.

- GREER, R. M., PORTELLI, S. L., HUNG, B. S., CLEGHORN, G. J., MCMAHON, S. K., BATCH, J. A. & CONWELL, L. S. 2013. Serum vitamin D levels are lower in Australian children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes than in children without diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*, 14, 31-41.
- GROSS, C., KRISHNAN, A. V., MALLOY, P. J., ECCLESHALL, T. R., ZHAO, X. Y. & FELDMAN, D. 1998. The vitamin D receptor gene start codon polymorphism: a functional analysis of FokI variants. *J Bone Miner Res*, 13, 1691-9.
- GUO, S. W., MAGNUSON, V. L., SCHILLER, J. J., WANG, X., WU, Y. & GHOSH, S. 2006. Meta-analysis of vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and type 1 diabetes: a HuGE review of genetic association studies. *Am J Epidemiol*, 164, 711-24.
- HARINARAYAN, C. V. 2014. Vitamin D and diabetes mellitus. Hormones (Athens), 13, 163-81.
- HARJUTSALO, V., SJOBERG, L. & TUOMILEHTO, J. 2008. Time trends in the incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finnish children: a cohort study. *Lancet*, 371, 1777-82.
- HAWA, M. I., PICARDI, A., COSTANZA, F., D'AVOLA, D., BERETTA ANGUISSOLA, G., GUGLIELMI, C., MOTTINI, G., FEZEU, L., MBANYA, J. C., LESLIE, R. D. & POZZILLI, P. 2006. Frequency of diabetes and thyroid autoantibodies in patients with autoimmune endocrine disease from Cameroon. *Clin Immunol,* 118, 229-32.
- HOLICK, M. F. 2007. Vitamin D deficiency. *N Engl J Med*, 357, 266-81.
- HOLICK, M. F., BINKLEY, N. C., BISCHOFF-FERRARI, H. A., GORDON, C. M., HANLEY, D. A., HEANEY, R.
 P., MURAD, M. H., WEAVER, C. M. & ENDOCRINE, S. 2011. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 96, 1911-30.
- HOWSON, J. M., KRAUSE, S., STEVENS, H., SMYTH, D. J., WENZLAU, J. M., BONIFACIO, E., HUTTON, J., ZIEGLER, A. G., TODD, J. A. & ACHENBACH, P. 2012. Genetic association of zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8) autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes cases. *Diabetologia*, 55, 1978-84.
- HUSSEIN, A. G., MOHAMED, R. H. & ALGHOBASHY, A. A. 2012. Synergism of CYP2R1 and CYP27B1 polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes in Egyptian children. *Cell Immunol*, 279, 42-5.
- HYPPONEN, E., LAARA, E., REUNANEN, A., JARVELIN, M. R. & VIRTANEN, S. M. 2001. Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. *Lancet*, 358, 1500-3.
- I. D. F. DIABETES ATLAS GROUP 2015. Update of mortality attributable to diabetes for the IDF Diabetes Atlas: Estimates for the year 2013. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract,* 109, 461-5.
- JASINSKI, J. M. & EISENBARTH, G. S. 2005. Insulin as a primary autoantigen for type 1A diabetes. *Clin Dev Immunol*, 12, 181-6.
- JURUTKA, P. W., REMUS, L. S., WHITFIELD, G. K., THOMPSON, P. D., HSIEH, J. C., ZITZER, H., TAVAKKOLI, P., GALLIGAN, M. A., DANG, H. T., HAUSSLER, C. A. & HAUSSLER, M. R. 2000. The polymorphic N terminus in human vitamin D receptor isoforms influences transcriptional activity by modulating interaction with transcription factor IIB. *Mol Endocrinol*, 14, 401-20.
- KADIKI, O. A., REDDY, M. R. & MARZOUK, A. A. 1996. Incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes (IDDM) and non-insulin-dependent diabetes (NIDDM) (0-34 years at onset) in Benghazi, Libya. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 32, 165-73.
- KALK, W. J., HUDDLE, K. R. & RAAL, F. J. 1993. The age of onset and sex distribution of insulindependent diabetes mellitus in Africans in South Africa. *Postgrad Med J*, 69, 552-6.
- KAMEL, M. M., FOUAD, S. A., SALAHELDIN, O., EL-RAZEK AEL, R. & EL-FATAH, A. I. 2014. Impact of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in pathogenesis of Type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 7, 5505-10.
- KAMEN, D. L. & TANGPRICHA, V. 2010. Vitamin D and molecular actions on the immune system: modulation of innate and autoimmunity. *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 88, 441-50.
- KANTAROVA, D. & BUC, M. 2007. Genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes mellitus in humans. *Physiol Res*, 56, 255-66.
- KARVONEN, M., PITKANIEMI, M., PITKANIEMI, J., KOHTAMAKI, K., TAJIMA, N. & TUOMILEHTO, J. 1997. Sex difference in the incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: an analysis of the

recent epidemiological data. World Health Organization DIAMOND Project Group. *Diabetes Metab Rev*, 13, 275-91.

- KAVARIC, S., VUKSANOVIC, M., BOZOVIC, D., JOVANOVIC, M., JEREMIC, V., RADOJICIC, Z., PEKIC, S. & POPOVIC, V. 2013. Body weight and waist circumference as predictors of vitamin D deficiency in patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *Vojnosanit Pregl*, 70, 163-9.
- KAWASAKI, E., NAKAMURA, K., KURIYA, G., SATOH, T., KOBAYASHI, M., KUWAHARA, H., ABIRU, N., YAMASAKI, H., MATSUURA, N., MIURA, J., UCHIGATA, Y. & EGUCHI, K. 2011a. Differences in the humoral autoreactivity to zinc transporter 8 between childhood- and adult-onset type 1 diabetes in Japanese patients. *Clin Immunol*, 138, 146-53.
- KAWASAKI, E., NAKAMURA, K., KURIYA, G., SATOH, T., KOBAYASHI, M., KUWAHARA, H., ABIRU, N., YAMASAKI, H., MATSUURA, N., MIURA, J., UCHIGATA, Y. & EGUCHI, K. 2011b. Zinc transporter 8 autoantibodies in fulminant, acute-onset, and slow-onset patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 27, 895-8.
- KNIP, M. & SILJANDER, H. 2008. Autoimmune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. *Autoimmun Rev*, 7, 550-7.
- KONGSBAK, M., LEVRING, T. B., GEISLER, C. & VON ESSEN, M. R. 2013. The vitamin d receptor and T cell function. *Front Immunol*, 4, 148.
- KUKREJA, A. & MACLAREN, N. K. 1999. Autoimmunity and diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84, 4371-8.
- KYVIK, K. O., NYSTROM, L., GORUS, F., SONGINI, M., OESTMAN, J., CASTELL, C., GREEN, A., GUYRUS, E., IONESCU-TIRGOVISTE, C., MCKINNEY, P. A., MICHALKOVA, D., OSTRAUSKAS, R. & RAYMOND, N. T. 2004. The epidemiology of Type 1 diabetes mellitus is not the same in young adults as in children. *Diabetologia*, 47, 377-384.
- LATEGAN, R., VAN DEN BERG, V. L., ILICH, J. Z. & WALSH, C. M. 2016. Vitamin D status, hypertension and body mass index in an urban black community in Mangaung, South Africa. *Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med*, 8, e1-e5.
- LEECH, N. J., KITABCHI, A. E., GAUR, L. K., HAGOPIAN, W. A., HANSEN, J., BURGHEN, G. A., PALMER, J. P. & NEPOM, G. T. 1995. Genetic and immunological markers of insulin dependent diabetes in Black Americans. *Autoimmunity*, 22, 27-32.
- LIBLAU, R. S., SINGER, S. M. & MCDEVITT, H. O. 1995. Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cells in the pathogenesis of organ-specific autoimmune diseases. *Immunol Today*, 16, 34-8.
- LIBMAN, I. M., PIETROPAOLO, M., ARSLANIAN, S. A., LAPORTE, R. E. & BECKER, D. J. 2003. Evidence for heterogeneous pathogenesis of insulin-treated diabetes in black and white children. *Diabetes Care*, 26, 2876-82.
- LIE, B. A., TODD, J. A., POCIOT, F., NERUP, J., AKSELSEN, H. E., JONER, G., DAHL-JORGENSEN, K., RONNINGEN, K. S., THORSBY, E. & UNDLIEN, D. E. 1999. The predisposition to type 1 diabetes linked to the human leukocyte antigen complex includes at least one non-class II gene. *Am J Hum Genet*, 64, 793-800.
- LIPS, P. 2007. Vitamin D status and nutrition in Europe and Asia. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 103, 620-5.
- LIPTON, R. B., DRUM, M., GREELEY, S. A., DANIELSON, K. K., BELL, G. I. & HAGOPIAN, W. A. 2011. HLA-DQ haplotypes differ by ethnicity in patients with childhood-onset diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*, 12, 388-95.
- LITTORIN, B., BLOM, P., SCHOLIN, A., ARNQVIST, H. J., BLOHME, G., BOLINDER, J., EKBOM-SCHNELL, A., ERIKSSON, J. W., GUDBJORNSDOTTIR, S., NYSTROM, L., OSTMAN, J. & SUNDKVIST, G. 2006. Lower levels of plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D among young adults at diagnosis of autoimmune type 1 diabetes compared with control subjects: results from the nationwide Diabetes Incidence Study in Sweden (DISS). *Diabetologia*, 49, 2847-52.
- LIU, C., LU, M., XIA, X., WANG, J., WAN, Y., HE, L. & LI, M. 2015. Correlation of Serum Vitamin D Level with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus in Children: A Meta-Analysis. *Nutr Hosp*, 32, 1591-4.

- LOMBARD, Z., DALTON, D. L., VENTER, P. A., WILLIAMS, R. C. & BORNMAN, L. 2006. Association of HLA-DR, -DQ, and vitamin D receptor alleles and haplotypes with tuberculosis in the Venda of South Africa. *Hum Immunol*, 67, 643-54.
- LOPEZ, E. R., REGULLA, K., PANI, M. A., KRAUSE, M., USADEL, K. H. & BADENHOOP, K. 2004. CYP27B1 polymorphisms variants are associated with type 1 diabetes mellitus in Germans. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 89-90, 155-7.
- LOUNICI BOUDIAF, A., BOUZIANE, D., SMARA, M., MEDDOUR, Y., HAFFAF, E. M., OUDJIT, B., CHAIB MAMOUZI, S. & AOUICHAT BOUGUERRA, S. 2018. Could ZnT8 antibodies replace ICA, GAD, IA2 and insulin antibodies in the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes? *Curr Res Transl Med*, 66, 1-7.
- LUTALE, J. J., THORDARSON, H., HOLM, P. I., EIDE, G. E. & VETVIK, K. 2007. Islet cell autoantibodies in African patients with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes in Dar es Salaam Tanzania: a cross sectional study. *J Autoimmune Dis*, 4, 4.
- MAAHS, D. M., WEST, N. A., LAWRENCE, J. M. & MAYER-DAVIS, E. J. 2010. Epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 39, 481-97.
- MACCUISH, A. C., IRVINE, W. J., BARNES, E. W. & DUNCAN, L. J. 1974. Antibodies to pancreatic islet cells in insulin-dependent diabetics with coexistent autoimmune disease. *Lancet*, *2*, 1529-31.
- MARTIN, R. J., MCKNIGHT, A. J., PATTERSON, C. C., SADLIER, D. M., MAXWELL, A. P. & WARREN, U. K.
 G. S. G. 2010. A rare haplotype of the vitamin D receptor gene is protective against diabetic nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 25, 497-503.
- MATHIEU, C. & BADENHOOP, K. 2005. Vitamin D and type 1 diabetes mellitus: state of the art. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 16, 261-6.
- MATHIEU, C., WAER, M., CASTEELS, K., LAUREYS, J. & BOUILLON, R. 1995. Prevention of type I diabetes in NOD mice by nonhypercalcemic doses of a new structural analog of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3, KH1060. *Endocrinology*, 136, 866-72.
- MCDERMOTT, M. F., RAMACHANDRAN, A., OGUNKOLADE, B. W., AGANNA, E., CURTIS, D., BOUCHER, B. J., SNEHALATHA, C. & HITMAN, G. A. 1997. Allelic variation in the vitamin D receptor influences susceptibility to IDDM in Indian Asians. *Diabetologia*, 40, 971-5.
- MICHELS, A. & GOTTLIEB, P. 2000. Pathogenesis of Type 1A Diabetes. *In:* DE GROOT, L. J., CHROUSOS, G., DUNGAN, K., FEINGOLD, K. R., GROSSMAN, A., HERSHMAN, J. M., KOCH, C., KORBONITS, M., MCLACHLAN, R., NEW, M., PURNELL, J., REBAR, R., SINGER, F. & VINIK, A. (eds.) *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA).
- MOHAMMADNEJAD, Z., GHANBARI, M., GANJALI, R., AFSHARI, J. T., HEYDARPOUR, M., TAGHAVI, S. M., FATEMI, S. & RAFATPANAH, H. 2012. Association between vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and type 1 diabetes mellitus in Iranian population. *Mol Biol Rep*, 39, 831-7.
- MOHR, S. B., GARLAND, C. F., GORHAM, E. D. & GARLAND, F. C. 2008. The association between ultraviolet B irradiance, vitamin D status and incidence rates of type 1 diabetes in 51 regions worldwide. *Diabetologia*, 51, 1391-8.
- MORAN-AUTH, Y., PENNA-MARTINEZ, M. & BADENHOOP, K. 2015. VDR Fokl polymorphism is associated with a reduced T-helper cell population under vitamin D stimulation in type 1 diabetes patients. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 148, 184-6.
- MORAN-AUTH, Y., PENNA-MARTINEZ, M., SHOGHI, F., RAMOS-LOPEZ, E. & BADENHOOP, K. 2013. Vitamin D status and gene transcription in immune cells. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 136, 83-5.
- MUKHTAR, M., BATOOL, A., WAJID, A. & QAYYUM, I. 2017. Vitamin D Receptor Gene Polymorphisms Influence T1D Susceptibility among Pakistanis. *Int J Genomics*, 2017, 4171254.
- MUTLU, A., MUTLU, G. Y., OZSU, E., CIZMECIOGLU, F. M. & HATUN, S. 2011. Vitamin D deficiency in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol*, **3**, 179-83.
- NAIR, R. & MASEEH, A. 2012. Vitamin D: The "sunshine" vitamin. *J Pharmacol Pharmacother*, **3**, 118-26.
- NEJENTSEV, S., COOPER, J. D., GODFREY, L., HOWSON, J. M., RANCE, H., NUTLAND, S., WALKER, N. M., GUJA, C., IONESCU-TIRGOVISTE, C., SAVAGE, D. A., UNDLIEN, D. E., RONNINGEN, K. S.,

TUOMILEHTO-WOLF, E., TUOMILEHTO, J., GILLESPIE, K. M., RING, S. M., STRACHAN, D. P., WIDMER, B., DUNGER, D. & TODD, J. A. 2004. Analysis of the vitamin D receptor gene sequence variants in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 53, 2709-12.

- NEWHOOK, L. A., PENNEY, S., FIANDER, J. & DOWDEN, J. 2012. Recent incidence of type 1 diabetes mellitus in children 0-14 years in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada climbs to over 45/100,000: a retrospective time trend study. *BMC Res Notes*, 5, 628.
- NOBLE, J. A. & ERLICH, H. A. 2012. Genetics of type 1 diabetes. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2, a007732.
- NOBLE, J. A. & VALDES, A. M. 2011. Genetics of the HLA region in the prediction of type 1 diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep*, 11, 533-42.
- NOKOFF, N. & REWERS, M. 2013. Pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes: lessons from natural history studies of high-risk individuals. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1281, 1-15.
- O'NEILL, V., ASANI, F. F., JEFFERY, T. J., SACCONE, D. S. & BORNMAN, L. 2013. Vitamin D Receptor Gene Expression and Function in a South African Population: Ethnicity, Vitamin D and Fokl. *PLoS One*, 8, e67663.
- OGUNKOLADE, B. W., BOUCHER, B. J., PRAHL, J. M., BUSTIN, S. A., BURRIN, J. M., NOONAN, K., NORTH, B. V., MANNAN, N., MCDERMOTT, M. F., DELUCA, H. F. & HITMAN, G. A. 2002. Vitamin D receptor (VDR) mRNA and VDR protein levels in relation to vitamin D status, insulin secretory capacity, and VDR genotype in Bangladeshi Asians. *Diabetes*, 51, 2294-300.
- OMAR, M. A., HAMMOND, M. G. & ASMAL, A. C. 1984. HLA-A, B, C and DR antigens in young South African blacks with Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*, 26, 20-3.
- OSINSKA, I., POPKO, K. & DEMKOW, U. 2014. Perforin: an important player in immune response. *Cent Eur J Immunol*, 39, 109-15.
- PALMER, J. P., ASPLIN, C. M., CLEMONS, P., LYEN, K., TATPATI, O., RAGHU, P. K. & PAQUETTE, T. L. 1983. Insulin antibodies in insulin-dependent diabetics before insulin treatment. *Science*, 222, 1337-9.
- PANI, M. A., KNAPP, M., DONNER, H., BRAUN, J., BAUR, M. P., USADEL, K. H. & BADENHOOP, K. 2000. Vitamin D receptor allele combinations influence genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes in Germans. *Diabetes*, 49, 504-7.
- PANZ, V. R., KALK, W. J., ZOUVANIS, M. & JOFFE, B. I. 2000. Distribution of autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase across the spectrum of diabetes mellitus seen in South Africa. *Diabet Med*, 17, 524-7.
- PASCHOU, S. A., PAPADOPOULOU-MARKETOU, N., CHROUSOS, G. P. & KANAKA-GANTENBEIN, C. 2018. On type 1 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis. *Endocr Connect*, **7**, R38-R46.
- PASSINI, N., LARIGAN, J. D., GENOVESE, S., APPELLA, E., SINIGAGLIA, F. & ROGGE, L. 1995. The 37/40kilodalton autoantigen in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is the putative tyrosine phosphatase IA-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 9412-6.
- PENNA-MARTINEZ, M. & BADENHOOP, K. 2017. Inherited Variation in Vitamin D Genes and Type 1 Diabetes Predisposition. *Genes (Basel)*, 8.
- PIHOKER, C., GILLIAM, L. K., HAMPE, C. S. & LERNMARK, A. 2005. Autoantibodies in diabetes. *Diabetes*, 54 Suppl 2, S52-61.
- PIKE, J. W. & MEYER, M. B. 2010. The vitamin D receptor: new paradigms for the regulation of gene expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3). *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 39, 255-69, table of contents.
- PLUDOWSKI, P., HOLICK, M. F., GRANT, W. B., KONSTANTYNOWICZ, J., MASCARENHAS, M. R., HAQ, A., POVOROZNYUK, V., BALATSKA, N., BARBOSA, A. P., KARONOVA, T., RUDENKA, E., MISIOROWSKI, W., ZAKHAROVA, I., RUDENKA, A., LUKASZKIEWICZ, J., MARCINOWSKA-SUCHOWIERSKA, E., LASZCZ, N., ABRAMOWICZ, P., BHATTOA, H. P. & WIMALAWANSA, S. J. 2018. Vitamin D supplementation guidelines. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 175, 125-135.

POCIOT, F., AKOLKAR, B., CONCANNON, P., ERLICH, H. A., JULIER, C., MORAHAN, G., NIERRAS, C. R., TODD, J. A., RICH, S. S. & NERUP, J. 2010. Genetics of type 1 diabetes: what's next? *Diabetes*, 59, 1561-71.

POCIOT, F. & MCDERMOTT, M. F. 2002. Genetics of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Genes Immun*, 3, 235-49.

- PONSONBY, A. L., PEZIC, A., ELLIS, J., MORLEY, R., CAMERON, F., CARLIN, J. & DWYER, T. 2008. Variation in associations between allelic variants of the vitamin D receptor gene and onset of type 1 diabetes mellitus by ambient winter ultraviolet radiation levels: a meta-regression analysis. *Am J Epidemiol*, 168, 358-65.
- PRIETL, B., TREIBER, G., PIEBER, T. R. & AMREIN, K. 2013. Vitamin D and immune function. *Nutrients*, 5, 2502-21.
- PUOANE, T., STEYN, K., BRADSHAW, D., LAUBSCHER, R., FOURIE, J., LAMBERT, V. & MBANANGA, N. 2002. Obesity in South Africa: the South African demographic and health survey. *Obes Res*, 10, 1038-48.
- RAHA, O., CHOWDHURY, S., DASGUPTA, S., RAYCHAUDHURI, P., SARKAR, B. N., RAJU, P. V. & RAO, V.
 R. 2009. Approaches in type 1 diabetes research: A status report. *Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries*, 29, 85-101.
- RAIMONDI, S., JOHANSSON, H., MAISONNEUVE, P. & GANDINI, S. 2009. Review and meta-analysis on vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and cancer risk. *Carcinogenesis*, 30, 1170-80.
- RAMOS-LOPEZ, E., BRUCK, P., JANSEN, T., HERWIG, J. & BADENHOOP, K. 2007a. CYP2R1 (vitamin D 25hydroxylase) gene is associated with susceptibility to type 1 diabetes and vitamin D levels in Germans. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 23, 631-6.
- RAMOS-LOPEZ, E., BRUCK, P., JANSEN, T., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. M., RADEKE, H. H. & BADENHOOP, K. 2007b. CYP2R1-, CYP27B1- and CYP24-mRNA expression in German type 1 diabetes patients. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 103, 807-10.
- RASOUL, M. A., AL-MAHDI, M., AL-KANDARI, H., DHAUNSI, G. S. & HAIDER, M. Z. 2016. Low serum vitamin-D status is associated with high prevalence and early onset of type-1 diabetes mellitus in Kuwaiti children. *BMC Pediatr*, 16, 95.
- REWERS, M. & LUDVIGSSON, J. 2016. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. *Lancet*, 387, 2340-2348.
- RHEEDER, P., STOLK, R. P. & GROBBEE, D. E. 2001. Ethnic differences in C-peptide levels and anti-GAD antibodies in South African patients with diabetic ketoacidosis. *QJM*, 94, 39-43.
- RICHARDSON, C. C., DROMEY, J. A., MCLAUGHLIN, K. A., MORGAN, D., BODANSKY, H. J., FELTBOWER, R. G., BARNETT, A. H., GILL, G. V., BAIN, S. C. & CHRISTIE, M. R. 2013. High frequency of autoantibodies in patients with long duration type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*.
- RODACKI, M., ZAJDENVERG, L., ALBERNAZ, M. S., BENCKE-GONCALVES, M. R., MILECH, A. & OLIVEIRA,
 J. E. 2004. Relationship between the prevalence of anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies and duration of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Brazilian patients. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 37, 1645-50.
- ROEP, B. O., KRACHT, M. J., VAN LUMMEL, M. & ZALDUMBIDE, A. 2016. A roadmap of the generation of neoantigens as targets of the immune system in type 1 diabetes. *Curr Opin Immunol,* 43, 67-73.
- ROSE, K., PENNA-MARTINEZ, M., KLAHOLD, E., KARGER, D., SHOGHI, F., KAHLES, H., BAYER, M., HINTERMANN, E., PFEILSCHIFTER, J. M., BADENHOOP, K., RAMOS-LOPEZ, E. & CHRISTEN, U.
 2013. Influence of the vitamin D plasma level and vitamin D-related genetic polymorphisms on the immune status of patients with type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 171, 171-85.
- ROUX, K. H. 2009. Optimization and troubleshooting in PCR. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*, 2009, pdb ip66.
- SABBAH, E., SAVOLA, K., EBELING, T., KULMALA, P., VAHASALO, P., ILONEN, J., SALMELA, P. I. & KNIP, M. 2000. Genetic, autoimmune, and clinical characteristics of childhood- and adult-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 23, 1326-32.

- SAHIN, O. A., GOKSEN, D., OZPINAR, A., SERDAR, M. & ONAY, H. 2017. Association of vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and type 1 diabetes susceptibility in children: a meta-analysis. *Endocr Connect*, 6, 159-171.
- SANEEI, P., SALEHI-ABARGOUEI, A. & ESMAILLZADEH, A. 2013. Serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels in relation to body mass index: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 14, 393-404.
- SAVASTIO, S., CADARIO, F., GENONI, G., BELLOMO, G., BAGNATI, M., SECCO, G., PICCHI, R., GIGLIONE, E. & BONA, G. 2016. Vitamin D Deficiency and Glycemic Status in Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *PLoS One*, 11, e0162554.
- SESHADRI, K., TAMILSELVAN, B., AND RAJENDRAN 2011. Role of Vitamin D in Diabetes. J Endorinol Metab, 1, 47-56.
- SIMMONS, K. M. & MICHELS, A. W. 2015. Type 1 diabetes: A predictable disease. *World J Diabetes*, 6, 380-90.
- STAYOUSSEF, M., BENMANSOUR, J., AL-JENAIDI, F. A., SAID, H. B., RAYANA, C. B., MAHJOUB, T. & ALMAWI, W. Y. 2011. Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 and islet cell antigen 512/IA-2 autoantibodies in relation to human leukocyte antigen class II DR and DQ alleles and haplotypes in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 18, 990-3.
- STECK, A. K., JOHNSON, K., BARRIGA, K. J., MIAO, D., YU, L., HUTTON, J. C., EISENBARTH, G. S. & REWERS, M. J. 2011. Age of islet autoantibody appearance and mean levels of insulin, but not GAD or IA-2 autoantibodies, predict age of diagnosis of type 1 diabetes: diabetes autoimmunity study in the young. *Diabetes Care*, 34, 1397-9.
- SUNG, C. C., LIAO, M. T., LU, K. C. & WU, C. C. 2012. Role of vitamin D in insulin resistance. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2012, 634195.
- SUTTON, M., KLAFF, L. J., ASPLIN, C. M., CLEMONS, P., TATPATI, O., LYEN, K., RAGHU, P., BAKER, L., GUTHRIE, R., SPERLING, M. & ET AL. 1988. Insulin autoantibodies at diagnosis of insulindependent diabetes: effect on the antibody response to insulin treatment. *Metabolism*, 37, 1005-7.
- SWAI, A. B., LUTALE, J. & MCLARTY, D. G. 1990. Diabetes in tropical Africa: a prospective study, 1981 7. I. Characteristics of newly presenting patients in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, 1981-7. *BMJ*, 300, 1103-6.
- THAI, A. C., NG, W. Y., LOKE, K. Y., LEE, W. R., LUI, K. F. & CHEAH, J. S. 1997. Anti-GAD antibodies in Chinese patients with youth and adult-onset IDDM and NIDDM. *Diabetologia*, 40, 1425-30.
- TIBERTI, C., YU, L., LUCANTONI, F., PANIMOLLE, F., SPAGNUOLO, I., LENZI, A., EISENBARTH, G. S. & DOTTA, F. 2011. Detection of four diabetes specific autoantibodies in a single radioimmunoassay: an innovative high-throughput approach for autoimmune diabetes screening. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 166, 317-24.
- TISCH, R. & MCDEVITT, H. 1996. Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Cell*, 85, 291-7.
- TRIDGELL, D. M., SPIEKERMAN, C., WANG, R. S. & GREENBAUM, C. J. 2011. Interaction of onset and duration of diabetes on the percent of GAD and IA-2 antibody-positive subjects in the type 1 diabetes genetics consortium database. *Diabetes Care*, 34, 988-93.
- TURPEINEN, H., HERMANN, R., VAARA, S., LAINE, A. P., SIMELL, O., KNIP, M., VEIJOLA, R. & ILONEN, J. 2003. Vitamin D receptor polymorphisms: no association with type 1 diabetes in the Finnish population. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 149, 591-6.
- UITTERLINDEN, A. G., FANG, Y., VAN MEURS, J. B., POLS, H. A. & VAN LEEUWEN, J. P. 2004a. Genetics and biology of vitamin D receptor polymorphisms. *Gene*, 338, 143-56.
- UITTERLINDEN, A. G., FANG, Y., VAN MEURS, J. B., VAN LEEUWEN, H. & POLS, H. A. 2004b. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in relation to Vitamin D related disease states. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 89-90, 187-93.
- VANDEWALLE, C. L., DECRAENE, T., SCHUIT, F. C., DE LEEUW, I. H., PIPELEERS, D. G. & GORUS, F. K. 1993. Insulin autoantibodies and high titre islet cell antibodies are preferentially associated with the HLA DQA1*0301-DQB1*0302 haplotype at clinical type 1 (insulin-dependent)

diabetes mellitus before age 10 years, but not at onset between age 10 and 40 years. The Belgian Diabetes Registry. *Diabetologia*, 36, 1155-62.

- VANDEWALLE, C. L., FALORNI, A., SVANHOLM, S., LERNMARK, A., PIPELEERS, D. G. & GORUS, F. K. 1995. High diagnostic sensitivity of glutamate decarboxylase autoantibodies in insulindependent diabetes mellitus with clinical onset between age 20 and 40 years. The Belgian Diabetes Registry. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 80, 846-51.
- VASEGHI, H. & JADALI, Z. 2016. Th1/Th2 cytokines in Type 1 diabetes: Relation to duration of disease and gender. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab*, 20, 312-6.
- VAZIRI-SANI, F., OAK, S., RADTKE, J., LERNMARK, K., LYNCH, K., AGARDH, C. D., CILIO, C. M., LETHAGEN, A. L., ORTQVIST, E., LANDIN-OLSSON, M., TORN, C. & HAMPE, C. S. 2010. ZnT8 autoantibody titers in type 1 diabetes patients decline rapidly after clinical onset. *Autoimmunity*, 43, 598-606.
- VERDOIA, M., SCHAFFER, A., BARBIERI, L., DI GIOVINE, G., MARINO, P., SURYAPRANATA, H., DE LUCA, G. & NOVARA ATHEROSCLEROSIS STUDY, G. 2015. Impact of gender difference on vitamin D status and its relationship with the extent of coronary artery disease. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*, 25, 464-70.
- VERGE, C. F., GIANANI, R., KAWASAKI, E., YU, L., PIETROPAOLO, M., JACKSON, R. A., CHASE, H. P. & EISENBARTH, G. S. 1996. Prediction of type I diabetes in first-degree relatives using a combination of insulin, GAD, and ICA512bdc/IA-2 autoantibodies. *Diabetes*, 45, 926-33.
- VERGE, C. F., STENGER, D., BONIFACIO, E., COLMAN, P. G., PILCHER, C., BINGLEY, P. J. & EISENBARTH, G. S. 1998. Combined use of autoantibodies (IA-2 autoantibody, GAD autoantibody, insulin autoantibody, cytoplasmic islet cell antibodies) in type 1 diabetes: Combinatorial Islet Autoantibody Workshop. *Diabetes*, 47, 1857-66.
- VERKAUSKIENE, R., DANYTE, E., DOBROVOLSKIENE, R., STANKUTE, I., SIMONIENE, D., RAZANSKAITE-VIRBICKIENE, D., SEIBOKAITE, A., URBONAITE, B., JURGEVICIENE, N., VITKAUSKIENE, A., SCHWITZGEBEL, V. & MARCIULIONYTE, D. 2016. The course of diabetes in children, adolescents and young adults: does the autoimmunity status matter? *BMC Endocr Disord*, 16, 61.
- WALLBERG, M. & COOKE, A. 2013. Immune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. *Trends Immunol,* 34, 583-91.
- WANG, G., ZHANG, Q., XU, N., XU, K., WANG, J., HE, W. & YANG, T. 2014. Associations between two polymorphisms (FokI and BsmI) of vitamin D receptor gene and type 1 diabetes mellitus in Asian population: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 9, e89325.
- WENZLAU, J. M., FRISCH, L. M., HUTTON, J. C., FAIN, P. R. & DAVIDSON, H. W. 2015. Changes in Zinc Transporter 8 Autoantibodies Following Type 1 Diabetes Onset: The Type 1 Diabetes Genetics Consortium Autoantibody Workshop. *Diabetes Care*, 38 Suppl 2, S14-20.
- WENZLAU, J. M., JUHL, K., YU, L., MOUA, O., SARKAR, S. A., GOTTLIEB, P., REWERS, M., EISENBARTH, G. S., JENSEN, J., DAVIDSON, H. W. & HUTTON, J. C. 2007. The cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (Slc30A8) is a major autoantigen in human type 1 diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104, 17040-5.
- WINTER, W. E., HARRIS, N. & SCHATZ, D. 2002. Immunological Markers in the Diagnosis and Prediction of Autoimmune Type 1a Diabetes. *Clinical Diabetes*, 20, 183-191.
- YANG, C. Y., LEUNG, P. S., ADAMOPOULOS, I. E. & GERSHWIN, M. E. 2013. The implication of vitamin D and autoimmunity: a comprehensive review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol*, 45, 217-26.
- YOU, W. P. & HENNEBERG, M. 2016. Type 1 diabetes prevalence increasing globally and regionally: the role of natural selection and life expectancy at birth. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*, 4, e000161.
- ZEMUNIK, T., SKRABIC, V., BORASKA, V., DIKLIC, D., TERZIC, I. M., CAPKUN, V., PERUZOVIC, M. & TERZIC, J. 2005. Fokl polymorphism, vitamin D receptor, and interleukin-1 receptor haplotypes are associated with type 1 diabetes in the Dalmatian population. *J Mol Diagn*, 7, 600-4.

ZHANG, R. & NAUGHTON, D. P. 2010. Vitamin D in health and disease: current perspectives. *Nutr J*, 9, 65.

- ZIEGLER, A. G., BONIFACIO, E. & GROUP, B.-B. S. 2012. Age-related islet autoantibody incidence in offspring of patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 55, 1937-43.
- ZIEGLER, A. G., REWERS, M., SIMELL, O., SIMELL, T., LEMPAINEN, J., STECK, A., WINKLER, C., ILONEN, J., VEIJOLA, R., KNIP, M., BONIFACIO, E. & EISENBARTH, G. S. 2013. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. *JAMA*, 309, 2473-9.

7 Appendices

7.1 Appendix A: Stock solutions and dilution preparations

TBE Buffer (10x)

108 g	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
55 g	Boric acid
7.4 g	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid (EDTA)
Make up to 1	litre with distilled water (dH ₂ O).

TBE Buffer (1x)

100 ml	TBE
900 ml	dH ₂ O

Agarose gel (1%)

1g	agarose

100 ml 1 x TBE

Microwave for 2 minutes, cool slightly and add 1µl GelRed (10 000x) per 100 ml of gel.

Agarose gel (2%)

2g agarose

100 ml 1 x TBE

Microwave for 2 minutes, cool slightly and add 1µl GelRed (10 000x) per 100 ml of gel.

Bromophenol blue loading dye

0.1% Bromophenol blue

10ml 0.5M EDTA

25 ml Glycerol

Make up to 50 ml with dH_2O .

0.5M EDTA

18.61g EDTA Make up to 100ml with dH₂O.

7.2 Appendix B: Questionnaire

Demographics

Study number

Date of visit (dd/mm/yyyy):

Biogram

Date of birth (dd/mm/yyyy):
Gender: M / F
Race:
Telephone number of self or best possible contact:

Family history of diabetes:

On Mothers side:

On Fathers side:

Of Siblings:

Risk Factors:

Smoking:	Y	/	Ν	/	Ex / U	Comments:	(ex > 1yr stopped)
Snuff user:	Y	/	Ν	/	Ex / U	Comments:	(ex > 1yr stopped)

Random Capillary Glucose (from file):

HbA1c within last 4 months:

Blood pressure (mmHg):

Weight (kg):

Height (cm):

Waist circumference (cm):

Hip circumference (cm):

Acanthosis Nigricans:	Y /	′N/	U U	Where:
-----------------------	-----	-----	-----	--------

DM year of diagnosis:

Clinical judgement on type of DM: 1 / 2

T1 = age of diagnosis before 30 (and on insulin within 1 yr of dx) or on insulin within 1 yr of diagnosis regardless of age of diagnosis

Hypertension on treatment:	Y / N / U	Year of diagnosis:

History:

1. Preser	ntation at t	ime of diagno	sis					
DKA or	DKA or severe hyperglycemia requiring hospitalization Y / N / U							
Coincide	ental findir		Y / M	N / U				
Symptor	ms such a	s polyuria/pol	ydipsia cau	sing patient				
to visit a	health ca	are facility				Y / M	N / U	
Weight	Weight loss at time of diagnosis Y / N / U							
2. Insulin	started at	t time of diagn	osis?			Y / N	N / U	
3. If on in	sulin now	, was it started	d within 1 ye	ear of diagnos	is?	Y / N	N / U	
4.Compli	cations							
Macro:	MI	Stroke	Revascula	rization	Amputat	ion		
Micro:	Lasered	Nephro	pathy	Neuropathy)				

Medication (from list)

Insulin	
Oral medication	
Others	

Supplementation

1.Are you on vitamin D supplements	Y / N / U
------------------------------------	-----------

Other diseases

1.		
2.		
3.		

SUN EXPOSURE

Please circle which best describes your main occupation:

Mainly indoors Half indoors and half out doors Mainly outdoors

1

	Т	ime Outdo	ors	Amount of Skin Exposed			
	<5 min	5-30 min	>30min	Hands and face	Hands, face, arms	Hands, face, legs	Bathing suit
Monday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Tuesday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Wednesday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Thursday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Friday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Saturday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4
Sunday	0	1	2	1	2	3	4

Estimates of percentage of BSA exposed based on the "rule of nines" and clothing $\ensuremath{\mathsf{worn}}^2$

Body region ³	Clothing type	% BSA exposed	
Head	Nothing	4	
	Beanie/bike helmet	3	
	Baseball cap	2	
	Cowboy hat	1	
	Nothing	47	
Torso/arms	Bikini top/sports bra	42	
	Tank top	18	
	Tee shirt	10	
	Quarter length shirt	3	
	Long sleeves	0	
Legs	Bikini bottom	38	
	Short shorts/ Skirt	24	
	Knee-length shorts/skirt	8	
	Full-length pants	0	
Feet	Nothing	2	
	Sandals	1.5	
	Shoes	0	

¹ Sun exposure questionnaire predicts circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in Caucasian hospital workers in southern Italy. Hanwell HE, Vieth R, Cole DE, Scillitani A, Modoni S, Frusciante V, Ritrovato G, Chiodini I, Minisola S, Carnevale V. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* 2010 Jul;121(1-2):334-7. ² From: Vitamin D Intake Needed to Maintain Target Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations in Participants with Low Sun Exposure and Dark Skin Pigmentation Is Substantially Higher Than Current Recommendations. Hall LM, Kimlin MG, Aronov PA, Hammock BD, Slusser JR, Woodhouse LR, Stephensen CB. *J Nutr.* 2010 Mar;140(3):542-50.

³ Hands contributed 4% of exposed BSA (0% if gloves were worn) and the neck 2% (0% if a scarf was worn).

7.3 Appendix C: Ethics certificates



R14/49 Ms Sureka Bhola et al

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M180334

NAME: (Principal Investigator)	Ms Sureka Bhola et al
DEPARTMENT:	Chemical Pathology
PROJECT TITLE:	The Role of Vitamin D in the Aetiology of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus in the South African Black Population
DATE CONSIDERED:	06/04/2018
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally
CONDITIONS:	A Sub-study under Primary Study M150885 Dr Carolyn Padoa
SUPERVISOR:	Dr Carolyn Padoa
APPROVED BY:	6BPenny
	Professor CB Penny, Chairperson, HREC (Medical)
DATE OF APPROVAL:	10/05/2018

This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and **ONE COPY** returned to the Research Office Secretary on the Third Floor, Faculty of Health Sciences, Phillip Tobias Building, 29 Princess of Wales Terrace, Parktown, 2193, University of the Witwatersrand. I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. <u>I agree to submit a yearly progress report</u>. The date for annual re-certification will be one year after the date of convened meeting where the study was initially reviewed in <u>March</u> and will therefore be due in the month of <u>March</u> each year. Unreported changes to the application may invalidate the clearance given by the HREC (Medical).

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES



R14/49 Dr Carolyn Padoa

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M150885

<u>NAME:</u> (Principal Investigator)	Dr Carolyn Padoa		
DEPARTMENT:	Chemical Pathology		
PROJECT TITLE:	Phenotypic and Genotypic Characterisation of Patients Diagnosed with Diabetes Mellitus before the Age of 40 in South Africa (Previously M10978)		
DATE CONSIDERED:	Adhoc		
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally		
CONDITIONS:	Renewal (2015 - 2020)		
SUPERVISOR:			
APPROVED BY:	alliate four		
	Professor P Cleaton-Jones, Chairperson, HREC (Medical)		
DATE OF APPROVAL:	09/09/2015		

This clearance certificate is valid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for.

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and **ONE COPY** returned to the Secretary in Room 10004, 10th floor, Senate House, University.

I/we fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and I/we undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, I/we undertake to resubmit the application to the Committee. I agree to submit a yearly progress report.

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES

Dear Dr Carolyn Padoa

10 April 2014	
Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of patients diagnosed with diabetes mellitus before the age of 40 in South Africa (NRR)	
Donors	
Approved	
2014/19	

- Execution of the study must be compliant with applicable guidelines and policies.
- Any amendment, extension or other modifications to the protocol must be submitted to this Ethics Committee for approval prior to implementation.
- The Committee must be informed of any serious adverse event, planned and unplanned termination of the study.
- A progress report should be submitted yearly for long-term studies and a final report at completion of both short term and long term studies.
- Kindly refer to the SANBS HREC clearance certificate number on all future correspondence on this study to the HREC secretariat.
- This approval is valid for 5 years from the date stated above.

COMMITTEE GUIDANCE DOCUMENTS:

 International Conference on Harmonization (ICH) Good Clinical Practices (GCP) Guideline (ICH, 1996), Ethics in Health Research: Principles, Structures and Procedures (SA Department of Health, 2004); Guidelines for Good Practice in the Conduct of Clinical Trials in Human Participants in South Africa (SA Department of Health, 2006); Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human: Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Association, 2013); Reviewing Clinical trials: A Guide For Ethics Committees (Karlberg and Speers, 2010)

CHAIRPERSON. Prof J.N. Mahlangu

27 February 2015

DATE

7.4 Appendix D: PCR gel images



Figure D.1: PCR amplification of the *VDR* gene flanking the BsmI (A), FokI (B) and ApaTaq (C) polymorphisms.

(A) Bsml PCR gel: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1, 2, 4-6): 822bp PCR products; Lane (3, 7): no amplification; Lane 8: negative control.

(B) Fokl PCR gel: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder. Lane (1): negative control; Lane (2, 4-7): 273 bp PCR products; Lane (3): no amplification.

(C) ApaTaq PCR gel: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1): negative control; Lane (2-5, 8): 745bp PCR products; Lane (6-7): no amplification.



Figure D.2: PCR amplification of the vitamin D metabolising enzyme genes flanking the *CYP2R1* (A) and *CYP27B1* (B) polymorphisms.

(A) *CYP2R1* PCR gel: Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1-11): 287bp PCR products; Lane 12: negative control.

(B) *CYP27B1* PCR gel:. Lane M: 100bp DNA ladder; Lane (1-11): 187bp PCR products; Lane 12: negative control.

Genotype model	Participants (n)	Chi² (χ²)	p Value
Boml (ro1544410)		1 15	0 60
BSIII (151544410)	0.65 (205)	1.15	0.00
GG	0.65 (205)		
GA	0.30 (96)		
AA	0.05 (16)		
Fokl (rs2228570)		0.027	0.87
тт	0.04 (12)		
СТ	0.30 (100)		
СС	0.66 (221)		
Apal (rs7975232)		0.17	0.68
СС	0.11 (37)		
СА	0.43 (142)		
AA	0.46 (151)		
Taql (rs731236)		0.028	0.87
тт	0.65 (212)		
тс	0.31 (102)		
CC	0.04 (13)		
CYP2R1		1.16	0.28
(rs10741657)			
GG	0.65 (213)		
GA	0.33 (108)		
AA	0.03 (9)		
CYP27B1		0.17	0.68
(rs10877012)			
GG	0.83 (276)		
GT	0.17 (55)		
тт	0.00 (0)		

7.5 Appendix E: Hardy Weinberg Equilibrium

7.6 Appendix F: Comparison of *VDR* and metabolising enzyme gene polymorphism frequencies between our cohort and populations from the 1000 genomes project

SNP	Our Study	African	p value	European	p value	East Asian	p value
Bsml	0.80	0.73	0.156	0.60	<0.001*	0.94	0.001*
(G allele)							
Fokl	0.19	0.19	0.927	0.38	<0.001*	0.42	<0.001*
(T allele)							
Apal	0.33	0.36	0.593	0.45	0.022*	0.71	<0.001*
(C allele)							
Taql	0.80	0.71	0.042	0.60	<0.001*	0.93	0.004*
(T allele)							
CYP2R1	0.81	0.78	0.583	0.62	<0.001*	0.68	0.005*
(G allele)							
CYP27B1	0.92	0.92	0.925	0.68	<0.001*	0.36	<0.001*
(G allele)							

Data obtained from the 1000 genomes project (Genomes Project et al., 2015); * represents significance p < 0.05 when compared to our study.

Based on the frequency of the minor allele for all the SNPs studied, our sample size (calculated with Sample Size Calculator) was large enough and, therefore, sufficiently powered, with the exception of Apal. In addition, when comparing the n number of this study to those in the literature, the majority had similar, if not smaller, samples sizes than ours.

7.7	Appendix G: Du	uration of disease	hexiles for individuals	screened for GAD65,	IA2 and ZnT8 AAbs
-----	----------------	--------------------	-------------------------	---------------------	-------------------

	Duration of disease (years)			
Hexile	GAD65 (n)	IA2 (n)	ZnT8 (n)	
1	<2 (30)	<2 (30)	<2 (37)	
2	2-3 (21)	2-3 (21)	2-3 (26)	
3	4-6 (22)	4-6 (22)	4-6 (27)	
4	7-9 (29)	7-8 (22)	7-8 (24)	
5	10-16 (25)	9-12 (26)	9-12 (29)	
6	>13 (27)	>12 (33)	>12 (38)	